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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

7 June 1989

Si r ,

The Special Committee te Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the Human
Rights of the Population of the Occupied Territories hae the honour to transmit to
you herewith, in accordance with paragraphs 19 and 20 of general Assembly
resolutioa  45158 A, a periodic report updating information contained in the
twentieth report , which it adopted and presented to you on 26 August 1988
( A / 4 3 / 6 9 4 ) . The prosant periodic report ha6 been prepared in order to bring to
your attention, and to the attention of the Qeneral  Assembly, updated information
on the human rights situ&ion in the occupied territories.

The present periodic report covers the period from 26 Auguet 1988, the date of
the adoption of the twentieth report, to 31 March 1989. It ie based on written
information gathered from varioue aourcea  among which the Special Comittee has
selected relevant excerpts and summaries which are reflected in the report. Oral
evidence as well ae any further information relevant to its mandate will be
reflected,  together with its conclusions, in the twenty - f i rs t  report  of  the Special
CoJmittee,

Accept, Sir, on behalf of my colleague8 and on my own behalf, the aeaurances
of our highest consideration.

Daya R. PERERA
Chairman of the Special Committee to

Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting
the Human Rights of the Population

of the Occupied Territories

His Excellency
Mr. Javier P6res de Cu6llar
Secretary-General of the United Nations
New York

/ ..I
--~-. ma&P&-  _ .
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I .

1. In paragraphs 19 and 20 of its resolution 43/58 A of 6 December 1988, the
General Assembly requested the Special Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices
Affecting the Human Rights of the Population of the Occupied Territories, pending
early termination of Israeli occupation, to continue to investigate Israeli
policies and practices in the Arab territories occupied by Israel since 1967, to
consult, as appropriate, with the International Committee of the Red Cross in order
to ensure the safeguarding of the welfare and human rights of the population of the
occupied territories and to report to the Secretary-Qeneral  as soon as possible and
whenever the need arises thereafter, and also requested the Special Committee to
submit regularly periodic reports to the Secretary-General on the present situation
in the occupied Palestinian territory.

2. Section II of the present periodic report describes the situation in the
occupied Palestinian territory as it affects the human rights of the civilian
population. It contains a aununary of information received by the Special Committee
during the period from 26 August 1988, when it adopted its twentieth report
(A/43/694), up to 31 March 1989. The Special Committee has followed the situation
in the occupied territories on a day-to-day basis through reports appearing in the
Israeli and Palestinian press) it has also examined a number of communications and
reports Governments, orgsaisations  and individuals that reached it during the
period covered by the present report.

3. Section II A (paras. E-50) reflects the general situation in the occupied
territories. It provides relevant excerpts and summaries of reports concerning
general developments in the occupied territories and policy statements referring to
any major policy decision taken by the 

an 

4. Section II B (pares. 51-91) contains information on the administration of
justice in the occupied territories, and gives an account of various court
proceedings, sentences and detention measures to which Palestinian civilians have
been subjected; it also refers to a few cases of Israelis charged with killing or
ill-treatment of Palestinians.

5. Section II C (paras. 92-228) attempts to descrjbe  briefly other measures
affecting the human rights of the civilians, such a6 harassment and physical
ill-treatment; the illegal resort to collective punishment as measures of reprisal,
under various forms such as the demolition of houses of civilians, the imposition
of prolonged curfews or economic sanctions;  and the deportations from the occupied
territories carried out against a number of Palestinians despite the illegal
character of such practices, The section further provides information on
restrictions limiting the enjoyment of certain fundamental freedoms such as freedom
of expression or freedom of education1 it also briefly describes acts of violence
and aggression by Israeli settlers against the civilians.

/ ..*

--
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6. Section II D (paras. 229-260) refers to the treatment of Palestinian
detainees, which has been further worsened by the noticeable increase in the numbor
of prisoners consequent to the uprising,

7. Finally, section II E (paras. 261-275) reflects recent meaoures  of annexation
of and settlement in parts of the occupied territories.

I I . INFORMATION RECEIVED BY THE:  SPECIAL COMMITTEE

8. On 1 September 1988, it was reportad that the number of Palestinians killed in
the territories sir:.ce  the beginning of the uprising had reached 212. According to
reports of the United Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestine Refugees in the
Near East (UNRWA), the number of victims had reached 258, and had included 13 cases
of auf focation from tear-gas, 12 cases of death as a result of beating and 14 cases
of death following shooting by Israeli civilians. (w# 1 Eaptember 1988)

9. On 19 September, Israel Defence Forces (IDF) sources were reported as saying
that since the IDF had started using new plastic bullets in the territories, troops
had been authorised to use such bullets against stone throwers and demonstrators,
even when there was no danger to the soldiers’ safety. According to a report
appearing on 20 September 1988, Defence Mllister Rabin had changed orders regarding
the firing of plastic bullets, cancelling an earlier restriction that limited use
of such bullets to specially trained officers. (wI 19 September 19881
Jerusalem Post, 20 September 1988)

10. On 27 September, Defence Minister Rabin declared in a press conference that
the IDF was using plastic bullets in the territories to increase injuries among
Palestinian rioters. He said he wa8 “not worried” by the ehatp rise in casualties
among participants in violent protests. “This is precisely our aim”, he said. He
added that there had not been a rise in the rate of killings. Mr. Rabin added
that, in addition to the use of plastic bullets, the IDF had increased its
pre-emptive raids on villages in urder to block the organisation of violent
protests. “W!i) are determined to do everything legally possible to suppress and
significantly reduce the violence in the territories”, he concluded. (m
paat, 28 September 1988: m, 29 September 1988)

11. On 29 September, Dr. Habis Woheidi, head of the emergency room at Ahali
hospital in Gaea , was reported as saying that plastic bullets were like live
ammunition. According to doctors in that t.ospital, eight Palestinians had been
killed by plastic bullets since the IDF began using them a month earlier.
According to UNRWA figures, over 200 Palestinians were wounded in the Gasa Strip
during the month of September 1988, mostly by plastic bullets. (Jerusalem Post,
29 September 1988)

/ . . *
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12. On 4 October, Chief of Qeneral  Staff R/A (Lieutenant Qeneral) Dan Shomron told
the Rnesset Foreign Affair8 and Defence Committee that the army was not using
plastic bullets in the territories in self-defence, but in order to stop the riot8
before they got dangerously out of hand. Since the IDF started using plaetic
bullets, the number of fatalities among Arab rioters had decreased, while the
number of injuries had risen, (m’arem,  Jerusalem, 5 October 1986)

13. On 6 October, Chief of Qeneral Staff R/A Dan Shomron was reported to have
mentioned in his report to the Knesset  on the use of plastic bullet8 that during
the past three Week8 and 267 had been injured, as

weeks. (m, 6 October 1968)

14. On 7 October, Defence Minister Rabin said that since the beginning of the
uprising in tha territories, 250 persons had died and 18,000 arrests had been
carried out. He Said that plastic bullets were fired by officers and
specially-trained Soldier8 in order tG injure anyone involved in stone-throwing,
organisation df riots, or incitement. (u*are&  9 October 1988)

15. On 9 October, Attorney-General Yosef HariSh  defended the use of pla8tia
bullets in the territories and Said their aim was not deterrence through injury,
but dispersal of violent riots. Harish said he had approved guideline8 for use of
the bullet8 before t%ey were issued to troops.  (b’areti,  Jerusalem,
10 October 1988)

16. On 20 October, the Israeli press reported on two recent publications by the
West Bank Data Ba8e Project, headed by Dr. Meron Benvenisti. One publication,
entitled “The Price of Insurgency” , was the first COmprehenSiVe  report on human
rights violations in the territories since the beginning of the uprising. The
report, compiled by attorney Carmel Shalev, indicated an “alarming increase in the
number of hulnan and civil rights violations a8 a result of measures adopted by the
Israeli authorities in their efforts to quell the uprising by the Palestinian
population. That phenomenon was accompanied by Qovernment  acts - legislative,
administrative and judicial - which have been granting legitimacy to these
violations, and have been causing a qualitative change in the human and civil
rights situation of the population”. According to the report, by September 1988,
over 250 persons had been killed in the territories, as compared with 8 in 1986 and
22 in 1987. During the period under coneideration, over 5,000 people had been
injured, some 2,500 administrative detention orders had been iSSUed,  a8 compared
with 37 in 1986 and 62 in 1987, and over 18,000 people had been arrested. The
freedom of movement of hundreds of thousands was restricted by the imposition of
curfews and by sealing off localities, The report also alleged that there was a
dual system of justice in civil and military courts that discriminated againat
Arab8. The report further noted a discrepancy between  official policy guideline8
on the use of force by Israeli soldiers and their implementation. The second
publication was “The West Bank and Gasa Atlas”, which included maps and statistics
on growth and distribution of Jewish and Arab population, infrastructure and
transport, cultivation, town planni:lg and various Israeli political plan8 for
border demarcation. One of the major findings in the atlas ccxerned the increase
in the Palestinian population of the territories. According to the atlas, the
Palestinian population in the West Bank was greater by some 200,000 than figures

/ .*.
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released by the Central Bureau of Statistics, and reached 1,067,873. The
Palestinian population of the Gasa Strip stood at 633,000. (u’arw,,  Jerusalsm
Eoaf, m, 20 October 1988)

17, On 23 October, Reute.rs  news agency reported - on the basis of Palestinian
allegations - that an undercover army unit, code-named “Duvdevan”  (Cherry) was
operating in the West Bank to capture Arabs throwing petrol bombs and rocks, and
that the unit had verbal orders to shoot to kill fugitives “with blood on their
hands”. According to the Reuters report, three West Bank residents killed in
clashes on 8 and 9 October in the villages of Yatta and Yaabad had been shot dead
in cold blood by members of this unit. The news agency further alleged that a
similar unit, code-named “Samson”, was operating in the Gasa Strip. On
24 October 1988, the IDF flatly denied the existence of an undercover “death squad”
operating in the West Bank and Gasa. The statement did not deny the existence of
undercover units whose task was to arrest throwers of rocks and petrol bombs.
(m, LJeruaalem  Post, 24, 25 and 28 October 1988)

18. On 1 November, the day of the general elections in Israel, and on
2 November 1988, the anniversary of the Balfour Declaration, the territories were
sealed off and a self-imposed curfew and general strike were observed. A r a b
residents of the territories were not allowed to enter Israel or to circulate
freely inside the territories. Journalists were not allowed to enter the
terr i tor ies .  (Ha’arete, 2 November 19881 Al-Fab,  6 November 19881  &L8.&.&
10 November 1988)

19. On 4 November, it was reported that the border police forces operating in the
territories would double their numbers by mid-1989, as cctmpared with their sise at
the beginning of the uprising. in the Jerusalem area the number of border police
troops has been quadrupled since December 1987. (m# 4 November 1988)

20. On 6 November, it was reported that 374 Palestinians had been killed since the
beginning of the intifa8ah. (Al-F&,  6 November 1988)

21. On 13 November, it was reported that the security authorities had resorted to
an unprecedented show of force in the territories to head off rioting on the
occasion of the opening of the session of the Palestine National Council (PNC! in
Algiers. The preventive measures Llcluded a total curfew imposed on the
Gaaa Strip, affecting a population of 650,000, cutting of telephone links to the
territories, except to hospitals and persons linked to the authorities, banning
movement by Arab residents to and from Jerusalem, an unprecedented troop
deployment, preventive arrests (of approximately 350 people), distribution of
leaflets warning the population against any disturbances etc. Distribution of East
Jerusalem newspapers in the territories was banned and reporters were barred from
the Gasa Strip, except under escort by an IDF spokesman. (Ha’aret.8, J&QM&UI  Poet,
m, 13 November 1988; m, 17 November 1988)

22. On 17 November, the Israeli army issued orders banning all signs of
celebration on the occasion of the declaration of Palestinian independence. Prison
terms up to fibe years and heavy fines could be inflicted to those violating the
orders. (ub, 17 November 1988: Al-Fair,  21 November 1988)
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23. On 21 November, a group of Israeli and Palestinian jurists, physicians and
professors set up an Israeli-Palestinian Human Rights Committee, headed by attorney
Darwish Nasser from Jerusalem and Eddie Kaufmann of the Hebrew University.
(Ha'areb, 22 November 1988)

24. On 27 November, it was reported by the IDF that since the beginning of the
uprising 230 Arabs had been killed in clashes with troops: 163 in the West Bank
and 77 in the Gaza Strip. According to international bodies operating in the
territories the number of victims reached 320, including several Arabs murdered as
suspected collaborators and Arabs killed by Israeli civilians in the territories.
During the same period six Israeli civilians and two soldiers were killed in
incidents linked to the uprising. According to IDF sources some 3,550 Palestinians
had been injured and hospitalised. Palestinian sources alleged that the number of
injured was much higher. Seven hundred and twenty-two soldiers and 399 Israeli
civilians were injured. Some 5,656 Palestinians were currently being detained in
military detention facilities for acts linked with the uprising. Only 377 of them
were serving prison sentences given by courts. A total of 2,064 were being
detained until the end of the legal proceedings against them, and 1,625 were in
pre-trial detention; 1,590 were in administrative detention. These figures
corresponded to the situation as at 22 November 1988. (Ha'aretx,  27 November 1988)

25. On 30 November, it was reported that, according to UNRWA, 250 Palestinians had
been shot at in the Gaza Strip during the period from 1 to 28 November 1988,
including four who were killed. This was said to be the highest toll in a single
month since the beginning of the uprising. According to UNRWA, over
12,070 Palestinians had been admitted to UNRWA clinics since December 1987,
suffering from various injuries, including tear-gas poisoning and rubber bullet
wounds. Among the injured 6,635 were children aged from under 1 to 15 years.
(Ha'aretz,  Jerusalem Post, 30 November 1988)

26. On 30 November, it was reported that the use of plastic bullets fired at
rioters in the territories had been extended to the night hours. (Ma'ariv,
30 November 1988)

27. On 4 December, the Deputy Chief of Staff, Aluf (Major-General) Ehud Barak,
said that since the beginning of the uprising, one year earlier, 301 Palestinians
had been killed, 3,640 had been injured, and 5,500 were under detention, including
1,500 in administration detention, and that 140 houses had been demolished. Six
Israeli civilians and two soldiers had been kf!.led. (Ha'areta,  5 December 1988;
Attalia, 8 December 1988)

28. On 8 December, a report entitled "Punishing a Nation: Human Rights Violations
during the Palestinian Uprising" was published by the Palestinian human rights
monitoring group Al-Haq. According to the report, which was based on sworn
affidavits from Palestinian witnesses, questionnaires, reports by Al-Hag
fieldworkers and press accounts, 405 Palestinians had been killed during the
uprising, 217 in the West Bank and 134 in the Gaxa Strip (according to the Defence
Ministry there had been 302 Palestinians killed, and according to UNRWA - 313).
Over 20,000 Palestinians had been wounded (3,640 according to IDF sources), at
least 20,000 Palestinians were arrested over the past year, of whom 9,000 to 10,000

/ . . .
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were currently in prison, &cluding at least 3,000 administrative detainees. Some
32 Palestinians had been deported and another 27 served with expulsion orders. In
the West Bank 100 homes had been demolished and 45 sealed. At least 1,600 curfews
had been imposed, of which at least 400 were around-the-clock curfews lasting
between 3 and 40 days. (Ba'aretsi,  Jerusalem Post, 9 December 1988: A&U&&,
8 December 1986: Al-Fair, 12 December 1988)

29. On 8 December, the Central Region Commander, Aluf (Major-General)
Amram Mitzna, spoke about the one year's uprising in the territories. Be said the
IDF had "succeeded in blunting the Palestinian population's sense that they could
dictate events here and shake off our control", but the IDF still faced the task of
eliminating the so-called "shock committees", especially in remote villages, which
were used to impose the will of the uprising's leaders on the general population.
(Jerusalem Post, 9 December 1988)

30. On 8 December, Attalia correspondents published a report based on official
records of five hospitals in the West Bank and the Gaaa Strip showing that 33,088
persons had been hospitalized for various injuries in 1988. These figures did not
include those admitted in other hospitals (111, clinics or UNRWA relief centres in
the territories, nor those treated locally or never registered. (Attalia,
8 December 1988)

31. On 21 December, Al-Ittihad and Had- reporters revealed that Israeli police
were using a new type of bullet against Palestinian demonstrators, which was made
of nickel, was 4 centimetres long and half a centimetre wide, was open at both ends
with a tube holding two rubber bullets and contained an anesthetic  liquid. The
bullet was used against Emran Obeid, aged 19, in the village of Issawiy near
Jerusalem on 18 December 1988. (Al-Faix, 26 December 1988)

32. On 29 December, the Israeli Defence Minister, Yitshak Rabin, told the Rnesset
Foreign Affairs and Defence Committee that 320 Palestinians had been killed since
the start of the intifadah in addition to 700 injured and 21,000 detained.
According to Palestinian s&es, 445 Palestinians had been killed. (Fttalia,
29 December 1988)

33. On 12 January 1989, it was reported that the IDF had recently introduced a new
type of bullet. The new bullet, described by soldiers as an improved rubber
bullet, reportedly had a longer range than the old type of rubber bullet; it was
also reported to cause pain but not to elrplode inside the body. However, according
to Palestinian sources two children from the Gaza Strip, who died in November and
December 1988, were shot by such bullets. (Jerusalem Post, 12 January 1989;
Attalls

.
, 19 January 1989)

34. On 12 January, Defence Minister Rabin disclosed that 330 Palestinians had been
killed since the start of the uprising and more than 7,000 injured. Some 27,000
had been arrested and over 5,000 were currently in detention. (Jerusalem Post,
13 January 1989; Attaa,  19 January 1989)

35. On 14 January, senior IDF sources reportedly confirmed that, under new
instructions issued recently, soldiers who were not officers were also authorised

/ . . .
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to shoot plastic bullets at demonstrators. On 18 January 1989, further measures
were reportec!  by security sources in order to guell stone-throwing. The new
measures included speeding up the process of bringing stone-throwers before
military courtR  and harsher sanctions against the parents of stone-throwers.
Prosecutors in military courts would be instructed to ask for barsher sentences for
stone-throwers. The homes of stone-throwers who were responsible for death or
injuries would be demolished and the homes of thoae who were responsible for
material damage would be sealed. (m, CUING, 15, 18 January 1989;
&U,U, 19 January 1989)

3 6 . On 19 January, Defence Minister Rabin said that all instructions given to IDF
soldiers in the territories were being co-ordinatecl with the office of the State
Attorney, and could therefore be defended before the High Court of Justice.  He
said that deliberate shooting of children was illegal, but added, “those who do not
want to be hurt should not throw stones”. (W’ara I 20 January 19891  A-h,
23 January 1989)

37, On 22 January, attorney Felicia Langer  petitioned the High Court of Justice,
on behalf of the “League for Human and Civil Rights in Israel”, regarding the
lawfulness of open-fire instructions in the territories. On 25 January 1989,
Defence Minister Rabin told ths Knesset Foreign Affairs and Defence Committee t.h.p:.
open-ilic dnstructions  had been approved by tho judge advocate-general, He eald
that solcriers had been ordered, first of all, to catch stone-throwing children,
identify their parentr  and compel them to post a bond for a large sum of money.
(w, 23 January 2989; BPost, 25 January 1989)

36. On 23 January, it was reported that the top echelons of the IDF had instructed
commanders in the territories to refrain, as much as possible, from using gunfire
in their struggle against demonstrators and stone-throwers. The new instruction
came after what was1 described as a public uproar that followed news &out the
increased use of plastic bullet6 against demonstrators. Attorney-General Harish
said that there was no indication that IDF policies in the territories violated
either Israeli or international law. (Al-Fajz,  He’BrBts,  Jerusalek&&t,
23 January 1989)

39. On 23 January, Israeli Defence Minister Yitshak Rabin was reported to hb ,!
told journalists that the Israeli army would work to bring iuspected stone-throwers
to a speedy trial and that harsher sentences of up to three’years  would be levied
against youngsters found guilty of hurling stones at troops or Israeli civilians.
Femilie~:  of stone-thrower& would be heavily fined and the homes of suspected stone-
throwers would be demolis;cled  or sealed off. (w, 23 January 1989)

4 0 . On 23 January, tho IDF spokesman  reported that out of 288 Palestinians who had
baen  killed since ihe beginning of the uprip’ng, 47 had been shot by plastic
bullets. (R,a’aret;L,  24 January 1989)

41. On 25 January, the Deputy Chief of Staff, Aluf Ehud Barak, gave the IDF
details regarding the uprising, as follows: since December 1987 352 Palestinians
had been killed; 289 by IDF soldiers and the others “in other Circumstances”; 30
of the latter had been killed by other Palestinians. Four IDF soldiers and seven

/ . . .
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Israeli civilians were killed. Currently 5,600 Palestinians were being detained,
including 1,100 administrative deta4nees. some  45 Palestinians had been expelled
and 200 houses had been demo.lisked or sealed. (w, 26 January lQ89)

42. On 1 February, the Justice Ministry issued an official statement saying that
following a discussion by the Ministry’s top level officials it had been agreed by
all participants t.hat *@the existing orders (for opening fire in the territories)
are in accordance with the requirements of the law, and thus, carry full legal
val idity” , It was further agreed that soldiers who were authorised  to shoot
plastic bullets would receive specific clarifiaationa concerning the restrictions
imposed on their use. (W, Jaursalem  POE&, 2 February 1989)

43. On 7 February, the Judge Advocate-General, T/A (Brigadier-csneral)
Amnon  Strashnow, told law reporters that since the beginning of the uprising some
50 soldiers and officers had been put on trial on charges of causing death of Arab
residents of the territories, ill-treatment or stealing of property from
apartments. In addition, some 200 to 300 soldiera and officers had been put on
disciplinary trial before their commanders on leas severe charges. T/A Strashnow

(Ansar  3) facility. Since the beginning of the uprising some 4,500 residents of
the territories had been held in that jail. During the past 14 months
6,000 Palestinians had been brought to trial, 4,500 trials had been completed,
300 people were awaiting trial in jail and 500 had been released on bail. In
5 per cent of the trials the defendants had been acquitted] 25 to 30 per cent of
appeals against detention had been accepted by the authorities. The IDF k-ad
demolished 100 houses and sealed 100 others! 5% expulsion orders hrd been issued,
but only 49 persons had been deported, as 10 ~388s  were  .:t.il’l pending. T/A
Strashnclw  confirmed that soldiers may not shoot ylestrc b!\llets at fleeing rioters,
unless they were fleeing “in order to improve their nobit&.,. ti and were continuing
to riot. In case of doubt, he said, soldiers l?re orflered CO refrain from using
plastic bullets. He added that since the beginning of the uprising the orders on
using live ammunition had not been altered in any way, (Ila’arets,  n PQ.&,
6 February 1909; w, 9 February 1989)

44. On 23 February, it was reported that Defence Minister Rabin had written to the
president of the Israeli branch of Defence for Children International that since
the beginning of the uprrsing 22 minors had been killed in the territories. Most

of them had allegedly participated in the riots, Commenting on Rabin’s letter, a
source at an international development organization  in Jerusalem said that during
the period from 9 December 1937 to 9 December 1988, 70 children and teenagers up to
the age of 16 had been killed) 35 of them had reportedly died from gunshot wounds,
31 from tear-gas, 1 fr..;r  beating and 3 in various incidents linked with the
uprising. The majority of children who died from tear-gas were under six months
old, according to that source. (Jerusalem Post, 23 February 1969)

45. On 3 March, it was reported that the Southern Region Commander,
Aluf (Maj. Gen.) Yitzhak Mordekhai, told Gaea Strip notables that the IDF would
reduce its forces in the region and remove l;sveral brigades from sensitive places,
such as schools. He also promised that some detainees would be released and local
fishermen would be allowed to carry out their activity more freoly. (B’ars.&,
3 March 1989)

/ . . .
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46. On 10 Maroh, it was reported that seaurity forces in the Qasa Strip were being
redeployed to enhance ef f i c iency , with a view to reducing the number of Paleatinkan
casualties. It was announced that the border policcl would be responsible for order
in +ha town of Qaaa and in other sensitive localities in the region, (m
ppat, 10 March 1989)

/ . . .
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47. During the period covered by the preqent  report, the Special Committee
received communications from various aourcear as well as a considerable amount of
reports  from various newspapers, providing information on the overall situation
resulting from the uprising of the Palestinian popu)?tion against the occupation.
According to these reports, civilian deaths had continued to occur on a wide
scale. In a communicat..on  transmitted by Amnesty International dated
19 September 1988 entitled @‘Israel  and the Occupied Territorirsl  Update of the Use
of Live Ammunition by Members of the Israel Defence Forces”, a list was provided
that contained information on 42 Palestinians killed by live ammunition fired by
Israeli soldiers betweeen  17 June and 17 September 1988. The report provided
details on four cases of death by shooting by IDF personnel where, according to
Amnesty International, unofficial accounts of events raised serious questions and
warranted a thorough investigation.

48. The following table provides details concerning the 183 Palestinians killed
between 26 August 1988 and 31 March 1989 in the occupied territories and the
circumstances of their death as reported in various newspapers.
abbreviations of the names of newspapers are uaeC in the table:

The following

AF

AT

H

JP

M

&l-Fajx  (weekly)

Post

Ms’atlv

/ . . .



Date mIIIeaudage Place of residence Remarks and source

27 Aug. 1988 AillEuI Yamin (14)

28 Aug. 1988 SaeIikh  Pusuf
XuhaumadDababseh
(22)

ManauiMunir
el-Arashi (17)

Jinan Abed e1-EJaja.r
(16)

31 Aug. 1988

31 Aup. 1988

31 Aug. 1988

7 Sept. 1988

8 Sept. 1988

8 Sept. 1988

10 Sept. 1988

10 Sept. 1988

Pahri el-Bargouti
(22)

Abd el-Karim  Wabud
Abed (17)

Muhammad-
Abu-Salah (36)

Fadi Tahlji (14)

Ray& Farash (26)

As'ad Abu Ghosh
(28)

A-Til

Yatta

Rizaelneighbour-
hoodinGaza

Rafah

Ramallahaei#b
buurhuud

Rafah

Silat al-Hartipa

Si'ir near
Hebr0II

Sinjil, near
RdlUallah

Hablus

Died ofheadmmnds sustainedon
12 Aug. 1988.
(II, JP, 28 Aug. 1988)

was mur~ored for s-tea
collaboration with authorities.
(H, JP, 29 Aug. 1988)

uasshutintheheartanddied.
(H, JP, 1 Sept. 1988)

Died of injuries in thehead sn&ained
several days earlier.
(H, JP, 1 Sept. 1988)

Was shot and later died of his wounds,
according to Arab sotuces.
(E, JP, 1 Sept. 1988)

Uas shot on 2 Sept. 1988. Died of his
rounds on 7 Sept. 1988.
(H, JP, 8 Sept. 1988)

Was killed during an operation lamxhed
by the security forces.
(a, JP, 9 Sept. 1988; AF,
11 Sept. 1988: AT, 15 Se@. 1988)

Died fram tear+ suffocatiun.
(AF, 11 Sept. 1988)

Was murdered for su6pected
collaboration vitk authorities.
(E, JP, 11 Sept. 1988)

Was murdered for suqected
collaboration vith authorities.
(H, JP, 11 Sept. 1988)
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Date Nameandage Place of residence Remarks and source

26 Sept. 1988

26 Sept. 1988

26 Sept. 1988

26 Sept. 1988

26 Sept. 1988

Jamal Shukeirat
(23)

Naim A. Satatiya
(50)

Jihad a-Zinu (22)

J!bbilal-Jamal
(211

Nasser el-Ju.ndi
(22)

Jebel Mukabar
neighbourhood,
East Jerusalem

Diedwhen directlphitiu  the
face by a tear-gas grenade.
(H, JP, 27 Sept. 1988; AT,
29 Sept. 1988)

HabluS Murdered for Suepected  collaboration
uitb authorities.
(H, JP, 27 Sept. 1988)

Gaza Was killed by troops during a clash.
fH, JP, 27 Sept. 1988: AF, 2 Oct. 1988)

27 Sept. 1988 Hussam al-Gharbaui Gaza
(20)

Deit-Surik Was shot in the heart.
(H, JP, 27 Sept. 1988; A!r,
29 Sept. 1988)

27 Sept. 1988

27 Sept. 1988

29 Sept. 1988

Imad Abu-Sharar
(17)

Osama Aaraikeh
(17)

Naser Abu Sabit
(19)

Died in hospital in Jordan from
injuries sustained in May 1988.
(H, JP. 27 Sept. 1988; AT,
29 Sept. 1988)

Was shot at on 26 Sept. 1988. Died of
his wouuds the following day.
(H, JP, 27 Sept. 1988; AT,
29 Sept. 1988)

Nuseirat Was killed by troops during a clash.
(H, JP, 28 Sept. 1988)

Khan Yutlis camp Was shot in the chest.
(H, JP, 27 Sept. 1988: AT,
29 Sept. 1988)

Dalata camp Died of injuries sustained in
September 1986.
(H, JP, 30 Sept. 1988)

\.
.
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Date Name and age Place of residence Remarks and source

30 Sept. ?988 Kaid Salah (42) Hebron A shopkeeper, shot dead after the
stoning of a car in which Labbi
Levinger and several members of his
family were riding; the circumstances
of the shooting were not clear.
(H, JP, Al?, 2  1988; AT,
6 Oct. 1988)

30 Sept. 1988 Muhamnad el-Karaki Hebron Killed during a clash with an IDF
(18) patrol.

(H. JP,  2 Oct. 1988; AT,
6 Oct. 1988)

30 Sept. 1988 Fuad Hosmi Al Riuani Beit Bima in Died of wounds sustained three days
(18) Ramallah district earlier.

(AF, 2 Oct. 1988)

5 Oct. 1988 Nidhm Abu-Hawila Balata Died in hospital of injuries sustained
(24) 10 days earlier. He was allegedly

shot by troops as he was about to
throw a rock at ?&em-
(H, JP, AT, 6 Oct. 1988; Al?,
11 Oct. 1988)

6 Oct. 1988 Mustafa Salim Abu Bidya
Baker (45)

6 Oct. 1988 Ahmed Xa'rur Auin village,
near Jeuin

The village m, killed by
unidentified people after being
suspecte3 cr collaboration  ~5th the
authorities.
(9, JP, 7 Oct. 1988; AF, 11 Oct. 1988)

Killed AT au unidentified assailant
in the Is-aeli Arab village of IIm
el-Fahm. Themurderwas believed to
be motivated by suspicion of
collaboration with the authorities.
(H, JP, 7 Oct. 1988; AF, 11 Oct. 1988)

\.
.
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Date Name and age Place of residence Remarks and source
Zk?
3%

I--\
Pew

6 Oct. 1988 Adnan Abu Hanfa (31) Nablus Shot aud killed by troops during
a,y

clashes. He was reportedly admitted
to hospital in critical condition,
with his hands handcuffed behind his
back. According to military sources
au officer opened fire after his
patrol MS attacked with rocks and
iron bars. The sources added that
troops hadboundhis hands because
they had not detected his wounds in
the dark.
(H, JP, 7 Oct. 1988; AP, 11 Oct. 1988)

7 Oct. 1988 Samir al-Bahlul (26) Nablus

7 Oct. 1988 Nidal Ali al-Najar Nablus
(29)

7 Oct. 1988 Ali AZ e-Din Nablus
a-Sayeh (20)

7 Oct. 1988 Muhammad mblus Killed by bullet shots.
al-Masharavi (17) (H, JP, 9 Oct. 1388; AF,  11 Oct. 1988)

7  O c t .  1 9 8 8 Ahmed Ziad
al-Kilani (28)

Yaabed Killed when army tits entered the
village to restore or&r.
(H. JP, 9 Oct. 1988; AP, 11 Oct. 1988)

7 Oct. 1988 Muhamnad Aref Salah Burka
(36)

Was shot and killed during a
dmmnstration.
(H, ~7, 9 Oct. 1988; AP, 11 Wt. 19.78)

Killed by a direct shot twice in
the head.
(H, JP, 9 Oct. 1988; AF, 11 Oct. 1988)

Killed by a shot io the heart during
a rAot.
(H, JP, 9 Oct. 1988; 29, 11 Oct. 1988)

Killed in his home. The motive for
the killing was believed to be
suspicion of collaboration with the
authorities.
(H, JP, 9 Oct. 1988)

\.
.
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Date Name and age Place of residence Remark: and source

8 Oct. 1988

9 Ott- 1988

9 Oct. 1988

10 Oct. 1988

13 Oct. 1988

14 Oct. 1988

14 Oct. 1988

Muhammad Favzi Abd
el Kader (23)

Osama Subhi Ahmed
Abu Dahi 

Kamal Muhammad
Hassan al-Dari'a
(23)
Fade1 Ibrahim
Shehadeh Najar (25)

Yatta

Nizam Abu Judeh Dheisheh
(17) refugee camp

Mahmud Ahmad Mustafa
Abu Khader (18)

Omar al-Asi Ba'arat
(23)

Ahmed Mustafa
a l - A r j a  (19)

Ein Beit Alma
refugee camp

Rafah

Judeida, near
Jenin

Kafr Malek

Kibya

Died in hospital from injuries
sustained on 26 Sept. 1988.
(H, JP, 9 Oct. 1988; AF, 16 Oct. 1988)

A student at Alexandria University.
Was shot dead by a security guard at
the Rafah crossing point after
allegedly stabbing the guard.
(H, JP, 10 Oct. 1988)

Roth were shot dead when troops
opened fire after being attacked
by dozens of youths, during a sweep
carried out in the village.
(H. JP, 10 Oct. 1988; AK, 16 Oct. 1.388)

Died in hospital from injuries
sustained on 28 September 1988. He
had reportedly been hit in the head by
a plastic bullet fired at close range.
(H, JP, 11 Oct. 1988; AF, 16 Oct. 1988)

Killed when troops opened fire on
rioters. Shot in the head.
.(H, JP, 14 Oct. 1988; AK, 16 Oct. 1988;
AT, 20 Oct. 1988)

Killed during a clash uith troops.
(AF, H, JP, 16 Oct. 1988)

Died in hospital from injuries
sustained on 8 Oct. 1988, when troops
opened fire at stone-throwers.
(AF, H, JP, 16 Oct. 1988)

\.
.
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Date Name and age Place of residence Remarks and source

16 Oct. 1988 Osama Wasfi
a-Shalabi (18)

A-Til, near
Tulkarem

18 Oct. 1988 Ziya Haj Muhammad Nablus
(5) and
Khaled Tbeileh (24)

18 Oct. 1988

24 Oct. 1988

Abdel Raouf Misbah
Feysal (31?

Abdel Munim Shahin
Shahmawi (17)

25 Oct. 1988 Manal Samour (14)

26 Oct. 1988 Nisrin A-Navajha
(3)

27 Oct. 1988

29 Oct. 1988

Ziad Sabad (16)

Basal Mustafa
Dweikat (17)

Shajeya refugee

"amp

Far's refugee
Camp

Shati refugee
C=P

KhauYunis

Nuseirat refugee
canp

Rujeib

Died in hospital from injuries
sustained on 10 Oct. 1988 when troops
opened fire at demonstrators.
(H, JP, 17 Oct. 1988; AT, 20 Oct. 1988)

Both killed when troops fired plastic
bullets at stone-throuiug  rioters.
According to prelimiuary  findings of
an IDF investigation, the 5-yea--old
boy had been hit by a stray bullet
fired from a lmkout post some
400 metres away.
(H, JP, 19 Oct. 1988; AT, 20 Oct. 1988)

Died in hospital from severe beatings.
(AT, 20 Oct. 1988)

Shot in the heart during a clash
with troops.
(H, JP, 25 Oct. 1988; AF, 30 Oct. 1988)

A girl, shot dead when troops
opened fire at stone-throwers.
(H, JP, 26 Oct. 1988; AT, 27 Oct. 1988)

A girl, died after troops had
allegedly thrown a tear-gas grenade
into her parents' home in the al-Amal
neighbourhoodof KhanYunis.
(H, JP. 27 Oct. 1988)

Killed during a clash with troops.
(H, JP, 28 Oct. 1988; AF, 30 Oct. i988)

Killed in unclear circumstances
following a violent clash between
troops and villagers.
(H, J-P, 30 Oct. 1988)



\.
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Date Name and age Place of residence Remarks and source

30 Cct. 1988 Iyad Bishara Beit Sahur Killed during a clash with troops.
Abu-Saadeh (20) (H, JP, 31 Oct. 1988; AT, 3 Nov. 1988)

2 Nov. 1983 Jalal al-Fayumi Kalkilya Died on his way to hospital. Shot in
(20) his house along with his 45-year-old

mother when an Israeli military patrol
broke in allegedly searching for
masked youths. According to Israeli
military sources, he was shot after he
tried to seize an officer's weapon.
(H, JP, 3 Nov. 1388; AF, 6 Nov. 1988)

3 Nov. 1988 Omar Abu-Shakur
(17)

6 Nov. 1988 Mujabed el-Karim Yasid village,
(18) north of Nablus

His body was discovered near
Tartumiya, in the Hebron district. No
marks of violence were seen and the
death circumstances were not clear.
(H, JP, 4 Nov. 1988)

Was killed by troops during a raid
in the village designed to reeve
Palestinian flags and slogans. The
troops reportedly opened fire at
youths who were throwing stones and
empty bottles at them.
(H, JP, 7 Nov. 1988: AT, 10 Nov. 1988)

7 Nov. 1988 Ismat Jamil Mahmud Kafr Salem, near A young woman, killed when troops
(20) Nablus opened fire at stone-t&rovers, during

a raid on the village.
(H, JP, 8 Nov. 1988; AT, 10 Nov. 1988)

7 Nov. 1988 Ahned Hussein Tamun village Was shot and killed by an Israeli
Desharat (21) reserve soldier in Massua settlement

in the Jordan Valley after he stabbed
to death an Israeli reserve soldier,
Corporal David Danieli.
(H, JP, 8 Nov. 1988; AT, 10 Nov. 1988)



Date Name and age Place of residence Remarks and source

9 Nov. 1988

13 Nov. 1988

14 Nov. 1988

16 Nov. 1998

20 Nov. 1988

23 Nov. 1988

23 Nov. 1988

Csama Abmed Abu-Rama
(or Abu-Ghanima) (4)

Alam Muhammad
al-HanatuZi (27)

Sabri M&mud Arndas
(21)

Tarek Abu-Samhadane
(25)

Yusuf Subhi
al-Shibli (22)

Amnar Muhib
Hamayel (13)

Marvan Kanairi (27)

Sajai'ya
neighbourhood,
Gaza

Jenin

KbanYunis

Gaza Strip

Baka al Hateb
village, near
Nablus

Reita village

Yabed village

Was killed vhen troops opened fire
at stone-throvers.
(H, JP, 10 Nov. 1988; AF,
13 Nov. 1988: AT, 17 Nov. 1988)

Was killed in unclear circumstances.
The incident occurred near a
road-block at the Jenin-Yamun  road.
Al-Hanatuli was Cot by troops while
he vas sitting in a car.
(H, JP, 14 Nov. 1988; AT, 17 Nov. 1988)

Was reportedly shot in the head
and killed by troops.
(H, JP, 15 Nov. 1988; AT, 17 Nov. 1988)

Died in hospital after being shot
in the head by troops earlier in the
week.
(AI’, H, JP, 17 Nov. 1988)

Was shot by troops during a raid on
the village.
(H, JP, 21 jlov. 1988)

Died after being shot in the head
by troops on 19 Ncv. 1988.
(AT, H, JP, 24 Nov. 1488)

Died after being severely beaten and
hospitalized on 7 November.
(H, JP, 24 Nov. 1988; AF, 28 100~. 1988)

.
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Date Name and age of &marks and source

Nov. 1988

26 Nov. 1988

1 Dec. 1988

3 Dec. 1988

4 Dec. 1988

5 Dec. 1988

8 Dec. 1988

Naval Abu-Tharia
(40 or 45)

Farid Rajab
al-Maghari (11)

Hani Sami Harsheh
(17)

Hamed el-Haj
Muhamnad (15:

Ibrahim Mahmud
Hamdiya (75)

Asmaa Abu Su1einm.n
Mahmud Ibada (12
or 15)

Yusuf Muhammad Abu
Sbeih, (17 or 23)

Shati camp

Nuseirat camp,
Gaza

Kaffin village,
north of
Tulkarem

Reit Furik. near
Nablus

Al-Yannm,  n e a r
Jenin

Shati camp, near
Gaza

Kafr Ba'ir, near
Jenin

Died in unclear circumstances.
According to the IDF spokesman the IDF
vas not involved in her death and it
vas probably due to a family feud.
According to Palestinian sources she
vas shot by troops.
(I-3, JP, 25 Nov. 1988; AF, 28 lWov. 1988)

Died in hospital after being shot
in the head by troops during a
demonstration.
(H, JP, 25 No-. 1988; AT, 1 Dec. 1988)

Killed by troops during a raid on
the village.
(H, JP, 2 Dec. 1988; AT, 8 Dec. 1988)

Killed bY troops during a raid on
the village.
(H, JP, 4 Dec. 1988; AT, 8 Dec. 1988;
AF, 12 Dec. 1988)

Died after inhaling tear-gas.
(W, 5 Dec. 1988; AT, 8 Dec. 1988; AF,
12 Dec. 1988)

Killed bp a bullet shot fired by
an officer during a demonstration.
(H, JP, 6 Dec. 1988; AT, 8 Dec. 1988;
AF, 12 Dec. 1988)

Killed by troops during a raid on
the village.
(H, JP, 9 Dec. 1988; AK, 12 Dec. 1988)



Date NZUWaadage Place of residence Remarks and source

10 Dec. 1988 Husni Aba Sido (15)

10 Dec. 1988 Abdallah Ibrahim
Abu Mahruqe (20)

13 Dec. 1988 Hamdan Najar 125)

16 Dec. 1988 Ashraf Daoud al-Haj
Ali (15)

16 Dec. 1988 Muhammad Hassan
Fez al-Kuni (20)

15 3ec. 1988 Yassin .41 Shakhshir
(18)

15 Zec . :9aa Iad Ab\ !?jilal (181

Gasa Shot dead by a patrol conmander after
the patrol was attacked vith rocks and
bottles.
:H, JP, 11 Dec. 1988; AT,
15 Dec. 1988: AF, 19 Dec. 1988)

Shati camp A prisoner at "Ansar 2" detention
centre in Ga2a. Was shot dead after
stabbing a soldier.
(H, JP, 11 Dec. 1988; AT,
15 Dec. 1988; AF, 19 Dec. 1988)

Burin A shepherd, was killed after having
killed an Israe?i settler, Yaacov
Parag, aged 30. by battering his head
vith a rock, and having shot to death
a reserve soldier, Artur Herstog.
(H, JP, 14 Dec. 1988; AT,
15 Dec. 1988; AF, 19 Dec. 1988)

Nahlus Died ofvounds sustainedon
25 November 1988.
(H, JP, 18 Dec. 1988; AF,
19 Dec. 1988; AT, 22 Dec. 1988)

Nablus Died after being injured during a
funeral.
:H, JP, 18 Dec. 1988; AT, 22 Dec. 1988)

Nablus Shot during a funeral.
(H, JP, 18 Dec. 1988; AF,
19 Dec. 1988; AT, 22 Dec. 1988)

Nablus Killed by troops during clashes.
(H, JP, 18 Dec. 1988; AF,
19 Dec. 1988; AT, 22 Dec. 1988)



Date Name and age Place of residence Remarks and source

16 Dec. 1988

16 Dec. 1938

18 Dec. 1988

18 Dec. 1988

19 Dec. 1988

21 Dec. 1988

24 Dec. 1988

24 Dec. 1988

Fayez al Shaku (20)

Nidal Shafik Abd
el-Bahman (22)

Ibrahim Muhammad
al-Saabi Badran
(24)

MohEnmad Mustafa
Farhat (30) and
Zuheir Ismail Fiad
(22)

Bader Said Karada
(13)

Abdel Rahman Kadura
(20)

Jihad Mustafa
Muhamnad Yussef
Imran (21)

Tvo unidentified
Palestinians

Nablus

Heit Wazzan

Deir el-Ghasun,
near Tulkarem

Shabura
neighbourhood in
Bafah

Nablus

Nablus

Deir el Khatab.
near Nablus

Marj a-Naajeh,
in the Jordan
Valley

Killed by troops during clashes.
(H, JP, 18 Dec. 1988; AF,
19 Dec. 1988: AT, 22 Dec. 1988)

Killed in Nablus.
(H, JP, 18 Dec. 1988; AK, 19 Dec. 1988)

Killed by a soldier as he vas
about to drop a brick on a soldier's
head.
(H, 19 Dec. 1988: AT, 22 Dec. 1988:
AF, 26 Dec. 1986)

Both vere killed by troops.
(H, 19 Dec. 1988; AT, 22 Dec. 1988;
AF, 26 Dec. 1988)

Died in hospital after being
seriously injured in the head.
(H, JP, 20 Dec. 1988; AT,
22 Dec. 1988; AF, 26 Dec. 1988)

Diedofvouuds  sustainedon
16 December 1988.
(JP, 22 Dec. 1988; AT. 22 Dec. 1988)

Diedof votmds sustainedon
16 December 1988.
(H, JP, 25 Dec. 1988; AT, 29 Dec. 19S8)

Died when an explosive chasge
they vere handling vent off.
(JP, 25 Dec. 1988)



Date
am*

Nameandage Place of residence Remarks and source 8s;
* EC

25 Dec. 1988

25 Dec. 1988

27 Dec. 1988

28 Dec. 1!)88 Samir Mohammed
Shehadeh (18)

28 Dec. 1988 Jibil Jabr al-Hirsh
(20)

30-31 Dec. 1988 Zaki al-Titi (22)

30-31 Dec. 1988 IsmailAhmed
Barghiti (19)

30-11 Dec. 1988

30-31 Dec. 1988

Baed Bujdi Edm3ida
(17)

Muhammad Nasser
Hawash (22)

Mohammad Chnar
Khalil (20)

Anuar Bassam
al-Bahati (14)

T--m unidentified
Phl.csuinians

Jabalipa camp

Nablus

Abwein, near
BaUIallah

Nablus

Beihija village,
near Hebron

Nablus

Beit Bimah,
near Ekmallah

Shmnaika

Gasa Strip

Killed by two bullets in the head
during demonstrations in the camp.
(H, JP, 26 Dec. 1988; AT, 29 Dec. 1988)

Died of wounds sustained on
16 December 1988.
(H, 26 Dec. 1988; AT, 29 Dec. 1988)

Was killed by two bullets, one in
the chest and the other in the
leg, duriug a raidon the village.
(H, JP, 28 Dec. 1988: AT, 29 Dec. 1988)

Killed by a bullet in the back
during a clash vith troops.
(H, JP, 29 Dec. 1988; AT, 5 Jan. 1989)

Killed by a bullet in the chest
Curing a clash with troops.
(H, JP, 29 Dec. 1988; AT, 5 Jan. 1989)

Killed by troops.
(H, JP, 1 Jan. 1989; AT, 5 Jan. 1989)

Killed during a raid on the
village.
(H, JP, 1 Jan. 1989; AT, 5 Jan. 1989)

Diedofwounds sustaiuedon
6 December 1988.
(H, JP, 1 Jau. 1989; AT, 5 Jan. 1989)

Killed by troops. The two were
members of the Islamic Jihad and
hadbeenuauted  for alougperiod.
(H, JP, 1 Jan. 1989)



Date Name and age Place of residence Bemarks and source

30-31 Dec. 1988 Nidal and Bassam
Ataba (both 10)

4 Jan. 1989 Nas;ar Ismail
Nassar (16)

4 Jan. 1989 Bassam Barahma (29)

6 Jan 1989

8 Jan. 1989

10 Jan. 1989

12 Jan. 1989

12 Jan. 1989

13 Jan. 1989

Mahmud Abdallah
Hamuda

Naim Ahmd Abu
Anim (11)

Kaid Abd el-Aziz
IWGzeh (27)

Martian  l4unzer
al-Madani (17)

Ahmed Abdel Salam
Habayba (11)

Nabil Mohanmtad
Abu-Labau (16)

Arraba region
in Samaria

Deir el Balah
camp

Jericho

Al Kabida
village

Al Maghir, near
Balllallah

Idna, near
Hebron

Tulkartm

Tulkarem

Dheisheh

Killed when they stepped on a
laudmine.
(H, JP, 1 Jan. 1989; AT, 5 Jan. 1989)

Shot by soldiers during a clash.
(JP, 5 Jan. 1989)

Shot by unidentified gunmen. Was
kuouu to have collaborated with the
security agencies.
(H, 6 Jan. 1989)

Stabbed to death by unidentified
persons.
(AT, 12 Jan. 1989)

Died of wounds sustained the
previous day when Jewish settler;;
attacked him.
(AT, 12 Jan. 1989)

Killed by IDF soldiers. was knolrn
to have collaborated vith the Israeli
authorities.
(H, JP, 11 Jan. 1989; AT, 12 Jan. 1989)

Died of wounds sustained on
1January.
(H, JP, 13 Jan. 1989: AT, 19 Jan. 1989)

Shot in the chest by troops during
a funeral.
(H, JP, 13 Jan. 1989; AT, 19 Jan. 1989)

Shot in the chest by troops aud
later died in hospital.
(JP, 15 Jan. 1989; AT, 19 Jan. 1989)



Date Name and age Place of residence Remarks and source

13 Jan. 1989 MuhammadYakub
al Sahluk (15)

13 Jan. 1989 Hanadi Exxat Abu
Sultan (12)

14 Jan. 1989 Bana al-Uasri (12)

14 Jan. 1989 Islam Sha'ban Ab:l
Dalfa (25-day-old
baby)

iC JAIL. 1989 Shukri Taba (45)

15 Jan. 1989

15 Jan. 1989

15 Jan. 1989

16 Jan. 1989

Muhammad Bushdi
Yussef Abushi (18)

Zaid Ahmed Badwan
(17)

AhmadWuhanmed
Al Ajarmeh (70)

Raduan Abdallah Abu
Sbeih (16)

Nuseirat, Gr .a

Shati, Gaza

Nablus

Jerusalem

F a r ’ a  c a m p

Bafah

Aida refugee

Hebron

Died in hospital of vouuds sustained
on12 January.
(JP, 15 Jau. 1989; AT, 19 Jan. 1989)

Died in hospital of wounds sustained
on 11 January.
(JP, 15 Jan. 1989; AT, 19 Jan. 1989)

Died in hospital of wouuds sustained
on7 January.
(JP, 15 Jan. 1989; AT, 19 Jan. i989)

Died from gas poisouiq.
(AT, 19 Jan. 1989; AF, 23 Jan. 1989)

Died at Hadassah Ebspital where he was
taken on 5 January after being
seriously affected by tear-gas.
(AT, 19 Jan. 1989; AI?, 23 Jan. 1989)

Shot in tke chest by troops and
later died in hospital.
(H, JP, 16 Jan. 1989; AT, 19 Jan. 1989)

Died in hospital of wounds sustained
on 14 January.
(H, JP, 16 Jan. 1989)

Suffocated to death after inhaling
tear-gas.
(AF, 23 Jau. 1989)

Shot in the chest by troops inside
a school yard.
(H, JP, 17 Jan. 1989; AT, 19 Jan. 1989)



Date Name and age Place of residence Remarks and source

16 Jan. 1989

17 Jan. 1989

17 Jan. 1989

17 Jan. 1989

18 Jan. 1989

19 Jan. 1989

20 Jan. 1989

20 Jan. 1989

21 Jan. 1989

AbWdwahmudAbU
Xustafa (17)

Issa Taha Shaih
al Mauasra (19)

Ibrahim Jabr Hassan
Abu Siam (17)

Samer Ibrahim
al-Kassem i17)

Tewfik Mohammed Deir Ghazaleh,
Zakarneh (55) near Jenin

Malxnud Jalal
Darawsha
(or Dawawsa) (18)

Shati camp

Yasser Hamad
Kara'ish (24)

Yatta. near
Hebron

~hmed Jaradat (36)

Nasser al-Irout

Khan Punk

BaaiNaim

Far’a camp

Jenin

Attil, near
Tulkarem

Balata

Died in hospital of wouuds sustained
the previous day.
(H, JP, 17 Jan. 1989)

Died in hospital of uounds sustained
on7 JauuarY.
(H, 18 Jan. 1989; AT, 19 Jan. 1989)

Shot in the stomach during a violent
clash.
(H, 18 Jan. 1989; AT, 19 Jan. 1989)

Shot in the heart during a
violent clash.
(H, 18 Jan. 1989; AT, 19 Jau. 1989)

Suffocated to death from tear-gas.
(AF, 23 Jan. 1989)

Shot during violent clashes.
(H, JP, 22 Jan. 1989)

AbodYguardof themayor. Killed
by troops, apparently  by mistake.
after he opened fira at them.
(H, 22 Jan. 1989)

Killed by unidentified gumen. gas
suspected to be a collaborator vith
the security agencies.
(H, 22 Jan. 1989)

Son of a suspected collaborator. Shot
by unidentified gunmen two weeks
previously.
(H, 22 Jan. 1989)



Date Nameaudage Place of residence Remarks and source

21 Jan. 1989

23 Jan. 1989

25 Jan. 1989

28 Jan. 1989

33 Jai. 1989

2 Feb. 1989

4 Feb. 1989

5 Feb. 1989

8 Feb. 1989

Ali Ibrahim Abu
Sharifa (14)

Issam Ghanenl
Al Mara'ba (18)

Mustafa Mara'ba
(40)

Majed Zaher Blussa
Abu Fara (23)

Mabznud Salem Xahmud
(65)

Salameh Tahsin
Sbeih (141

A l l a  Abdallah
Arnandas (15) and
Majid al Haq
(16)

MuhasmadJamal
Matar (17)

Kamal al-Zakarneh Kabatiya. near
(18) Jenin

Tulkarem camp

Hable, near
Kalkilya

Hable

Surif, near
Hebron

Beit Lid

Fahma. near
Jenin

~hauYunis and
the nearby
refugee caatp

Shaticzmp

Shot by troops during a clash.
(H, 22 Jan. 1989)

Shot by troops during a clash.
(H, JP, 25 Jan. 1989)

Shot by troops during a memorial
march for the Hable Youth killed two
days earlier.
(H, 26 Jan. 1989; JP, 27 Jan. 1989)

Shot in the heart by troops.
(H, 29 Jan. 1989; AT, 2 Feb. 1989)

The village m. Was killed
bp uuidentified persons for suspected
collaboration.
(H, JP, 31 Jan. 1989)

Shot in the stomachduring  clashes
that followed an IDF raid in the
village.
(H, JP, 3 Feb. 1989; AP, 6 Feb. 1989;
AT, 9 Feb. 1989)

Killed during violent clashes.
(Ii, JP, 5 Feb. 1989; AT, 9 Feb. 1989)

Shot in the chest during violent
clashes.
(H, JP, 6 Feb. 1989; AT, 9 Feb. 1989)

Killed during violent clashes.
(H, JP, 9 Feb. 1989; AF, 13 Feb. 1989;
AT, 16 Feb, 1989)



Date Name and age Place of residence Remarks and source

8 Feb. 1989 Ghanem Jaradat (17) .C,ilat a-Hartiys Killed during violent clashes.
CH, JP, 9 Feb. 1989; AF, 13 Feb. 1989)

8 Feb. 1989 Akram  Shehadeh Abu Bafah Died of wounds in the head
Nahla (20) sustained the previous day.

(H, JP, 9 Feb. 198Y; AF, 13 Feb. 1989;
AT, 16 Feb. 1989)

9 Feb. 1989 Talal Mohamned Fahd TaIWIJ.l
Besharat (8)

12 Feb. 1989 Atwah Raduan (19) Gaza

Died of wounds sustained on
4 February when he was burned by an
inflammable object allegedly thrown at
him by soldiers.
(H, JP, 10 Feb. 1989; AF,
13 Feb. 1989; AT, 16 Feb. 1989)

Was shot by a soldier, at the Ashdod
Junction in Israel, allegedly when he
was trying to steal a car. The
soldier was arrested.
(JP, 13 Feb. 1989: AF, 20 Feb. 1989)

15 Feb. 1989 Akram Hilal Hussein Warbatha al Died of wounds sustained the
Rashid (21) Misbah village, previous week uhen he was beaten

near Ramallah by soldiers.
(H, JP, 17 Feb. 1989; AF,
20 Feb. 1989; AT, 23 Feb. 1989)

17 Feb. 1989 Issam nohaarned
al-Balbul (25)

EGIblUS Died ofvounds sustainedon
16 February, when he was shot in the
chest by troops during a clash.
According to military sources he was
shot as he was about to drop a
cinderblock from a rooftop on soldiers.
(JP, 19 Feb. 1989; AF, 20 Feb. 1989;
AT, 23 Feb. 1989)

\.
.
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17 Feb. 1989 Anmar Husni al-Turk Kafr al Dik, Shot twice in the neck during

(18) near Nablus clashes with soldiers. He died on the
way to hospital.
(AF, 20 Feb. 1989; AT, 23 Feb. 1989)

18 Feb. 1989 Ahmud Walil Bafah Died of wounds sustained on
al-Yazari (22) 13 February, when he was shot in the

head by a metal-rubber bullet, during
a clash.
(JP, 19 Feb. 1989; AT, 23 Feb. 1989;
AF, 27 Feb. 1989)

21 Feb. 1989 Muharrrmad Said Eizariya, near
al-Bishk (55) Jerusalem

22 Feb. 1989 Rasmipa Shakaleh Gaza
(35)

26 Feb. 1989 Ahmed Abdul- Gaza
Muharram (20)

Killed by a soldier, allegedly
after one man had stabl- l the soldier.
(H, JP, 22 Feb. 1959; A 23 Feb. 1989)

A - . Was shot inside the Naser
hospital in Gasa, where she was
-Ploti- Themurder was saidtobe
corrmitted on suspicion of
collaboration with the Israeli
authorities. But police were checking
the possibility that the incident had
a criminal background.
(H, JP, 23 Feb. 1989)

Killed by armed civilians escorting
tax-collectors after the latter were
attacked by stone throwers.

(H, JP, 27 Feb. 1989; AF, 6 Mar. 1989)

\.
.
.
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28 Feb. 1989 Ataua Lutfi Mar Deir-Bazia, near Killed by troops vho raided the
:25) Ramallah village after being attacked by

stone-throwers. Themanwasamember
of the "Democratic Front" and an
activist in Hebron University. He had
been wanted by the security
authorities for four months. He was
shot in the head.
(H, 1 Mar. 1989; AF, 6 Mar. 1989)

2 Mar. 1989 Marwan Kuraj (24) Tufah
neighbourhood,
Gaza

6 Mar. 1989 iUmed%amadan Bejt Lahiya,
al-Ajani (or Azami) Gaza
(19)

6 Mar. 1989 Ibrahim l&hammed
Ibrahim al-Jabar
(24)

Shot and killed by troops after he
allegedly tried to attack a soldier.
(H, JP, 3 Mar. 1989)

Killed by a plastic bullet
shot during a violent clash.
(H, JP, 7 Mar. 1989; AT, 9 Mar. 1989;
Al?, 13 Mar. 1989)

Kafr Salem, near Killed by a plastic bullet fired by
Nablus troops during a raid on the village.

(H, JP, 7 Mar. 1989; AT, 9 Mar. 1989;
AF, 13 Mar. 1989)

7 Mar. 1989 Hakam Ismail Bakhir Nablus
(18)

9 Mar. 1989 Atef Alian Ali
J-undiya
(20 or 22)

Sajai ' ya, Gaza

.

KSlled by a bullet fired by troops
after allegedly resisting arrest.
(H, JP, 8 Nar. 1989; AT, 9 Mar. 1989;
AF, 13 Mar. 1989)

Killed by a bullet fired by troops
after trying to attack a soldier
with abottle.
(EL JP, 10 Mar. 1989: Ap,
13 Mar. 1989; AT, 16 Mar. 1989)

I ...
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10 Mar. 1989 &heir iutfi

al-Hams (15)
Rafah Killed by troops during a clash at

Yibna refugee camp, in Rafah.
(H, JP, 12 Mar. 1989; AF,
13 Mar. 1989; AT, 16 Mar. 1989)

12 Mar. 1989 Muhammad Khaled
Shreim (16 or 18)

17 Mar. 1989 Majdi al-Ghurani
(19); Abd al-Nasr
ash-Sharif (18);
Fami Muhanrnad
Bkhith (18)

19 Mar. 1989 Talal Selim
al-A'araj (26)

19 Mar. 1989 Asad Talal -famuda
(15)

19 Xar. 1989 Nu'man Jaradat (18)
and Samir Mohammed
Sami Aruri (12)

22 Mar. 1989 Abmed Abdel Fatah
Ihdeid (11)

Aida camp

Sheikh Radwan
neighbourhood
in Gaza

Daraj
neiqhjourhood
in Gaza

Zeitun quarter,
Gaza

Silat al-
Haritiya, near
Jenin

Tulkarem refugee

camp

Died of injuries sustained the
previous day in a clash with troops.
(H, JP, 13 Mar. 1989; AT,
16 Mar. 1989; AF, 20 Mar. 1989)

Killed during clashes with border
policemen. The latter chased
stone-throwers iato a local mosque
and opened fire into and near the
mosque, killing the three.
(H, JP, 19 Mar. 1989; AT,
23 Mar. 1989: AF, 27 Mar. 1589)

Killed by border policemen after
he stabbed three of tha.
(H, JP, 20 Mar. 1989; AT,
23 Mar. 1989; AF, 27 Mar. 1989)

Shot in the chest by troops as he
was about to throw a bottle at thez~
(H, JP, 20 Afar. 1989; AT,
23 Mar. 1989; AF, 27 alar. 1989)

Killed by troops during a clash.
(H, JP, 20 Mar. 1989; AT, 23 Mar. 1989;
AF, 27 Mar. 1989)

Killed by troops during clashes.
(H, JP, 23 Mar. 1989; AF,
27 Mar. 1989; AT, 30 Mar. 1989)

L
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Date Name and age Place of residence Remarks and source

23 Mar. 1989

23 Mar. 1989

24 Mar. 1989

25 Mar. lC89

25 Mar. 1989

25 Mar. 1989

27 Mar. 1989

Naber  Shakhib  Sa'id
(14)

Muhanmnad Aziz Vassar
(23)

Marwan Naef Abu
Tamam (19)

Ashraf Abu Jazer
(2C.J

Adli Saadi Abu

Rabi'a (20)

Subhi a-Sufi (28)

Amjad Eiisham  Nasser
(4)

Usarin village,
south of Nablus

Silwan,
East Jerusalem

Tulkarem refugee

camp

Rafab

KhanYunis

Tel a-Sultan,
Bafah

Beit Ead village,
near Jenin

Was shot by an Israeli civilian who
opened fire after his car was stoned.
(H, JP, 24 Mar. 1989; Ay,
27 Mar. 1989; AT, 30 Mar. 1989)

Died in hospital on an unspecified
date, after being injured by an
explosion, believed to have occurred
when he uas manipulatinc,  a charge.
(H, JP, 26 Mar. 1989; AT, 30 Mar. 1989)

Died in hospital of chest wounds
suffered in a clash with troops two
days earlier.
(H. JP, 26 Mar. 1989; Ap,
27 Mar. 1989; AT, 30 Mar. 1989)

Killed by troops during clashes.
(H, JP, 26 Mar. 1989; AT,
30 Mar. 1989: AF, 3 Apr. 89)

Killed by a bullet fired by troops
during clashes.
(H, JP, 26 Mar. 1989; AT,
30 Mar. 1989; AF, 3 Apr. 89)

Killed by three Arab &srllants
who suspected him of ccl&&oration
with the Israeli autkorities.
(H, JP, 26 Mar. 1553)

Killed by a policeman who was behg
stoned by villagers.
(H, JP, 28 Mar. 1989; AT,
30 Mar. 1989; AF, 3 Apr. 89)



Date Nameandaqe Place of residence Remarks and source

28 Mar. 1989

29 Mar. 1989

29 Mar. 1989

30 Mar. 1989

30 Mar. 1989

30 Mar. 1989

30 Mar. 1989

Amar Jamil Abmad
Salman (19)

Abdel Ghani Naji
(34)

Abd el Whim
Fleifel (70)

Akram Seif e-Din
Shurafa (19)

MuhamnadMansur
Abed Rabo (23)

Abd el-Munem
Yussuf Abdallah
(261

Nasser Khaled
Nasser (24)

Kafr Salem, near
Nablus

Al Doha quarter,
Bethlehem

Hebron

Shweika village,
near Tulkarem

Al-Jib, near
RZUIldll~

Salf it

Jabaliya refugee

camp

Died in hospital, allegedly as a result
of beating on the head on 13 March.
(AT, H, JP, 30 War. 1989; AF,
3 Apr. 89)

Killed by a mysterious explosion in
his home.
(H, 3p, 30 Mar. 1989; AT, 6 Apr. 89)

Was found dead after troops broke
up a demonstration. The circumstances
of his deathuere not clear.
(H, JP, 30 Mar. 1989; AF, 3 Apr. 89)

Killed by troops during a clash.
(H. JP, 31 Mar. 1989; AF, 3 Apr. 89:
AT, 6 Apr. 89)

KiLled by troops during a clash.
(H, JP, 31 Mar. 1989; AF, 3 Apr. 89;
AT, 6 Apr. 89)

Killed by several shots fired by
troops during 2 clash.
(H, JP, 31Mar. 19C9; AF, 3 Apr. 89;
AT, 6 Apr. 89)

Xilled by troops during a clash.
(H, JP, 31 24~. 1989; AF, 3 Apr. 89:
AT, 6 Apr. 89)
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4 9 . In addition to the above-mentioned cases of deaths, numerous other serious
incidents, occuring practically every day and in several localities were reported
during the same period. These incident6 included violent clashes between
Palestinians a-d Israeli force6 in various areas of the occupied territories, and
often resulted in severe injuries caused by live, rubber and plastic bullets, burns
caused by exploding or flammable objects, tear-gas and beatings and affected all
categories of civilians, including very young children. Other incidents included
widespread demonstrations, transport and commercial strikes by Palestinian
population, stone-throwing and petrol-bomb throwing, raid6 on marl localities and
villages by IDF soldiers, border policemen and paratroopers in order to carry out
scores or arrests, collect taxes, or remove Palestinian flags and graffiti, and the
imposition of curfews and closing off of villages and sometime6 entire areas, for
periods of varying durations (see also paras. 110-152).

5 0 . Some of these clashes were most serious, such as the one reported in Ha'aretz
and Jerusalem Post on 18 December 1988, which took place in Nablus on
16 December 1988 and in which five youths were killed and some 20 injured,
including three youths who died of their wounds in the following days. Reference
can also be made to clashes reported in Ha'area and -em Post on
12 January 1989, in which two Palestinians died and at least 28 were injured in
widespread serious clashes. The most serious clash occurred in Tulkarem after news
about the death of Marwan Munzer al-Madani became known. . Troops Used large
quantities of tear-gas and rubber bullets, and later live ammunition, to disperse
the protesters. At least 17 were shot and wounded - most of them children and
youths, and some 60 others needed medical treatment for rubber bullet, tear-gas and
beating injuries. Two 16-year-old girls, named as Abir Sawie and
Ghaarda Darwish Ahmed, were shot in the chest and hospitalized in very serious
condition. Eight Gaza residents were shot and injured, two seriously, including
Muhammad el Sahluk, aged 15; from NUSeirat camp. There were several attacks on
suspected collaborators. Violent clashes were also reported on 22 February 1989 in
Ha’aretz and Jerusalem Post, in which 15 Palestinians had been shot and wounded in
the West Bank on 21 February, and 4 in the Gaza Strip. Reference can also be made
to events that took place on 7 March, as reported in fFa’aretx  and JerUSa&?L&i& on
8 March 1989, when violent clashes continued to be reported in the territories, as
a general strike was observed for the second day running. One person was killed
and over 30 people were shot and injured - 29 of them in the Gaza Strip. Clashes
in the Gaza Strip were described as the worst in several months. A violent
weekend (24-25 March) was also reported in the Gaza Strip by H&%E.&E and
Jerusalem Post on 26 March 1989, when three persons were killed, 26 shot and
wounded and some 20 beaten. Heavy clashes were further reported by Ea'aretz and
Jerusalem Post of 31 March 1989 to have occurred on 30 March, when a general strike
was observed in the territories to mark the Land Day anniversary. Heavy clashes
were widespread. Four were shot dead and over 40 were injured. Most of the unrest
was outside the major towns, as heavy troop presence and curfews stifled protest in
cities and surrounding refugee camps. About 20 casualties were reported in the
Hebron area, where violence was allegedly provoked by vigilante car patrols by
settlers.

/ l . .
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8. B&lincludincrtherightto__a

1. RAAMV

51. During the period under consideration, the Special Committee received a
considerable amount of reports from various newspapers providing information on
arrests, the iaeuing  of administrative detention ordar, and the passing of
sentences concorning Palast!nians in the occupied territories. Such inf or!nat ion
included, in most cases, relevant details auah as the date, subject or aubjeata,
Place, duration and motive invoked. Owing to the amount of cases involved, which,
if listed individually, would have taken up considerable spacer only a few examples
are cited below in order to illustrate the situation in that regard.

52. On 30 August 1988, the Israeli Minister of Defence, Yitahak Shamir, reportedly
said that a total of 18,000 Palestinians had been arrested over the past nixis
months and that 5,600 of tham, including some 2,600 administrative detainees, were
still in detention. (Al-Faj& 4 September 1988)

53. On 4 September, the Commander of the Military Police, T/A (Brigadier General)
Emil Elimalech, gave details about the number of Arabs from the territories held in
prison. There were 2,461 administrative detainees, 519 convicted prisoners,
987 detainees (by order of a police officer) and 1,643 detained until the end of
the legal proceedings (by order of a judge). The total number was 5,640 persona.
Since December 1987, the Investigating Military Polics  had opened 430 inquiry files
regarding “irregular incidents” in the territories. In 350 cases the inquiries
were completed and in the remaining 80 inquiries were still under way) 154 inquiries
concerned circumstances of death of young Arab demonstrators and 71 concerned cases
of injuriaar 200 cases concerned other irregular acts by soldiers, including
beatings, destruction of property etc. (Wa’arsta I 5 September 1988)

54. On 6 September, in the town of Kalkilya, soldiers carried lists of names, and
detainees were taken handcuffed and blindfolded to a school where they were
questioned by agents of the General Security Service (GSS). A military prosecutor
signed detention orders and prisoners were taken to the Far’s detention camp near
Nablus. Some 150 people were arrested during the first day of the operation.
Military sources said the detainees were found in poaaesaion of knives and
hatchets. (Ha’, BPostr 7 September 19881 &U,&,  8 September 1988r
Al-FaQ,  11 September 1988)

55. On 23 October, it was reported that 60 administrative detainees and prisoners
from the Gaza Strip held at the Ketsiot prison in the Negev desert, known as
Ansar 3, were being released from prison, as a gesture on the occasion of the
holiday marking the birth of the Prophet Muhammad, on 22 October 1988. (U’aret&
23 October 1988)

56. On 27 October, the IDF Judge Advocate-General, T/A Amnon Strashnow, reported
that the army was holding 1,600 Palestinians in administrative detention, compared
with some 3,000 a few months earlier. Most of the detainees had filed appeals, and
all but 200 of the appeals had already been hear,: by military court judges. The
remaining appeals were to be heard the following week. (Jerusalem,
28 October 1988)

/ . . .
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57. On 27 ,rd 28 October, the Israel.’ authorities  carried out many wrests in
different Parts nf the or;zupied  territories ds a p,:eventive  measure. According to
lsrael  Radio, 200 Palestinian youths arrested, including several journalists.
(u, 3 November 1988)

58. On 29 October, the security forces carried out many arrests, described as
@‘preventSvJ measures”, in connection with the forthcoming elections in Israol and
the United States, the Balfour Declaration Day, and the meeting of the Palestine
National Council in Algiers. Many public figures were arrosted, including eight
j o u r n a l i s t s , eight trade unionists and the son of Abd el-Hsmid A-Sayeh, chairman of
the Palestine National Council. (Xs’art&s * 30 October 1988)

59. On 6 November, it was reported that some 300 charge sheets had been filed with
the military court in Gasa over the past two months against residents charged with
membership in “popular committees”. The security forces reportedly intended to
file 200 more charge sheets for similar offences. (m, 6 November 1988)

60. On 10 November, the Israeli military court in Nablus indicted three
Palestinian youths aged between 13 and 14 for throwing stones at soldiers. They
were given the choice between five months effective imprisonment and the payment of
fines of 600 to 900 shekels. One youth was sentenced to four months imprisonment,
and the identity c:ards of the two others were confiscated because their parents
refused to pay the fines. (At&,&&, 24 November 1988)

61. On 29 November, an IDF spokesman reported that a large number of “terrorist”
cells had been uncovered in the West Bank. Thsir members were suspected of a long
series of sabotage acts, attacks on settlemenls  and suspected collaborators etc.
The cells were uncovered in al-Aroub, north of Hebron, Beit Umar, al-Khader, south
of Bethlehem, Abud,  Jalaeun, Tulkarem, Deir lstiya, Jenin, Nablus, Talusa and
Balata, (Ha’aretrt * 29 November 1988)

62. On 30 November, it was reported that since the beginning of the uprising
6,000 persons had been put on trial on charges of breaking the peace and throwing
petrol bombs. The trials of 4,000 of them has already taken place; 200 of those
put on trial were acquitted, Some 4,000 persons had been placed under
administrative detention orders, but most of them had been released and at present
there were still 1,500 administrative detainees. These details were given by the
Judge-Advocate General, T/A Amnon Strashnow. (Ha’arete,  30 November 1988)

63. On 8 December, it was reported that, according to a report by the
New York-baaed Lawyers Committee for Human Rights, following two fact-finding
missions to Israel and the territories by the committee’s executive director and
board chairman, “the Israeli military authorities have failed to provide an
adequate basis for the administraizive  detentions” and had therefore “exceeded its
detention powers”. The report specifically criticised Israel for the
administrative detention of five workers from the Al-Haq human rights group2land of
two lawyers from Gaze, named Raji Surani and Yunis al-Jaru. The report said that
in all seven cases, no specific public charges of illegal activity had been made
ant no evidence had been disclosed. (Jar_unlm-Post,  8 December 1988)

/ L..
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64. On 2 January 1989, a group of Arab lawyers announced that they would not
appear ix military courts in the West Bank for one month in protest against
conditions that, they said, made it impossible for them to represent their clients
properly. At a news conference in East Jerusalem the Arab lawyers listed
22 complaints abolrt the military justice system, including absence of arrest
warrants and search warrants, failure to notify fsmilies  about the location of
detainees, bureaucratic obstacles that prevented lawyers from meeting with their
clients, severe limitations on family visits to detainees* a restricted bail
policy, the failure to bring detainees and witnesses to court, and the repeated
postponement of trial6 while the accused was forced to remain in jail. In
addition, the Arab lawyers called upon the military authorities to co-ordinate
trial dates with them to avoid situations in which clients had boen brought to
court without the lawyers’ knowledge. They also protested the security forces’
alleged practice of arresting a member of a suspect’s family if the suspect was not
home when they went to arrest him. They further criticised the practice of
extending prisoners’ detention in speedy hearings held at the prison without the
presence of a lawyer and witho..t  allowing the detainee to speak on his own behalf.
Responding to the lawyers’ charges, the IDF spokesman said the military courts
functioned “properly and reasonably, under current conditions”. He added that the
military courts would continue to hold trials, maintaining the defendants’ rights
even if they were not rSpFeSSntSd. (n PCU&  3 January 1989)

65. On 22 January, it was reported that the military court in Gasa had sentenced
four youths who had pleaded guilty to charges of stone-throwing at troops to prison
terms ranging from four and a half to six months. (-‘areM, 22 January 1989)

661 On 25 January, a spokesman for the Defence Ministry announced that
Faisal Husseini  would be released shortly from jail, where he was being held in
administrative detention, after Defence Minister Rabin decided not to extend his
administrative detention order. On 29 January, Hussoini  was released from
Kfar Yona jail. (Her’areb, JaruaalemPoet,  26, 29 January 1989)

67, On 2 February, Palestinian lawyers announced at a press conference in East
Jerusalem that they intended to continue their protest strike, started one month
earlier, and to boycott West Bank military courts for another month, unless the
authorities improved the legal system there, The lawyers’ complaints included the
frequent postponement of trials while suspects remained in jail, failure to notify
families about where detainees were held, bureaucratic obstacles that prevented
lawyers from meeting with their clients, the severity of penalties and the use of
Keteiot facility in the Negev desert to hold detainees from the territories. IDF
Judge Advocate-General Amnon Strsshnow responded to the complaints saying that the
strike was unjustified and that military courts would continue to operate in an
orderly manner even without the lawyers. (u&, mm Post,
3 February 19891  &l-Fajx, 13 February 1989)

68, On 6 February, it was reported that Supreme Court Justice Gabriel Bach had
ruled that a Palestinian candidate for deportation had the right to be shown parts
of the confidential evidence held by the GSS against him, despite secrecy orders
from the Defence Minister. The decision was described as a precedent-setting
ruling. The man against whom an order of expulsion was given was Balah Shakhshir,
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from NablUSI H i s  IaWyerS, Lea Tsemel, Avigdor Feldman and Abed Asaali,  claimed in
their petition to the High Court of Justice that tneir client could not refute the
allegations that led to the issuing of an expulsion order against him unless he
knew whet sort af evidence the 088 was herding  against him. (wr
6 February 1989)

69. On 20 February, ii was reported that charge sheets had been filed with the
military court in Qasa against all the leaders of the Hamas Moslem resistence
movement. The movement was created in December 1987 and was designed to integrate
the activities of the religious organisations in the Gasa Strip with those of the
uprising, (wI 20 February 1989)

7 0 . On 5 March, it was reported that military courts would be set up in Kalkilya
end Tulkarem by the IDF Judge Advocate-General as part of the “quick trial” policy,
which was initiated in January 1989. The new courts would supplement the existing
courts in Nablus, Jenin,  Rsmallah and Hebron. The “quick trial” policy was
introduced as part of the overall crack-down on stone-throwers. The policy
reportedly cut the time security suspect6  spent in the pre-trial detention from
several weeks, or even months, to a number of days. (U’s.&&m  Post, 5 March 1989)

71. On 7 March, it was reported that the IDF had released 124 detainees, including
administrative detainees, from the Ketsiot detention caq~p. (lU’art?U #
jeruealema, 7 March 1989) a-FajE, 13 March 1989)

7;‘. On 22 March, it was reported that the Jerusalem police and the 085 had
recently uncovered several cells affiliated to George Habtsh’s Popular Front. Over
40 suspects  had already been arrested, (~&&E&B, 22 March 1989)

7 3 . On 22 March, it was reported that the security forces had captured Yahya Abid,
the leader of the Democratic Front, in the Gasa Strip, (m, 22 March 1989)

7 4 . On 24 March,it was reported that the IDF had released, over the past few days,
Borne  150 West Bank prisoners and detainees, The move ceme after a series of talks
between the head of the civil administration and local notables. It was explained
as a good-will gesture in relation to the Ramadan feast, (H,B’ar&s,  24 March 1989)

7 5 . During the period under consideration, it was reported that a few Israelis
charged with murder or ill-treatment of Arab civilians had been charged and
sentenced to various terms. A few such examples are cited below.

7 6 . On 23 September 1988, it was reported that the Judge Advocate-General had
decided to put on trial four soldiers of the “Givati” brigade, a staff-sergeant and
three privates, who were allegedly involved in beating a Gaea resident, Hani Shami,
to death. The incident occurred in August 1988 when some 20 soldiers forced their
way into Shamf’s  home, searching for atone-throwing r;bfldren. When Sh? i tried to
protect his children the soldiers caught him and startod beating him violently on
all parts of his body. Hani Shami died of his wounds several hours later. The

/ . I l
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four suspects were charged with manslaughter, and it was the first time since tha
beginning of the uprising in the territories that soldiers were being charged with
beating an Arab to death. On 4 October, the Military Appeals Court heard the
appeal by the four “Qivrti” soldiers. Lawyers for the four soldiers claimed that
the use of beating “as punishmentfit was ordered by "most  senior authorities” in the
IDF, One of the lawyers quoted an affidavit by the soldiers’ immediate commander,
stating that their “action was in accordance with the customary procedures in the
area”. On 5 October, the Military Appeals Court decided that the four soldiers
should remain in jail pending their trial. On 15 November, the president of the
Southern Region military court ordered the release of the four soldiers. The judge
reached the conclusion that other soldiers had caused the Arab’s death by beating
him and that the identity of those responsible was not known. ((U’aretol,  23 and
27 September 1988, 16 November 19881 rJetusalem  Post, 5 and 6 October 19C8J Attalie,
29 September 19881 m, 2 October 1988)

77. On 11 October, the trial of Pinhas Wallerstein opened at the Jerusalem District
Court, Kalleretein,  head of the Mateh-Binyamin  regional council, was being charged
with killing one Arab youth and wounding another, (Jerusalem Post, 12 October 1988)

78. On 27 October, the IDF Judge Advocate-General, Amnon  Strashnow, reported that
32 IDF soldiers and officers had been tried since the beginning of the uprising for
unbecoming conduct towards the residents of the occupied territories. Dozens of
othctr  soldiers have been reprimanded by their commanding officers. (JerW Post,
28 October 1988)

79. On 24 :Iovember, it was reported that a reservist who had sl%pped  and kicked an
Arab detainee i? the Tulkarem detention facility was sentenced to two months’
imprisonment, six months’ suspended term, and WCS demoted from sergeant to private,
(Ma’ariy,  24 November 1988)

80. On 27 November, it was reported that 21 soldiers had been sentenced to 14 days
in prison for vandalising private Arab property in the Kalandiya refugee camp. The
soldiers’ platoon commander, a second lieutenant, was jailed earlier for 14 days
and relieved of his post, The company commander was reprimanded. (See also
paras e 92-228. ) (Jerueaum, 27 November 1988)

81, On 28 November, it was reported that a second lieutenant, an instructor of the
IDF officers’ college, was facing a charge of manslaughter out of negligence. On
21 August 1988, while chasing after suspected stone-throwers, he opened fire, in
violation of the standing orders, and killed a suspect. The trial was to be held
at the Southern Region military court. (w, 29 November 1988)

82. On 30 November, Yisrael  Ze’ev,  aged 38, from Shilo, was convicted at the
Jerusalem district court of manslaughter and causing injuries, for killing
Jodeh Abdallah Awad, a shepherd from Turmus Aye, and injuring Rizek  Abu Naim. The
incident took place on 5 May 1988 when the settler opened fire at the two shepherds
who were grazing their sheep “too close to the settlement”. On 5 December, it was
report69 that Ze’ev  was sentenced to three years’ imprisonment and two years’
suspended term. He was also ordered to pay NIS 30,000 (approximately $20,000) as
compensation to the widow. (w, Jerusalem Post,  1 and 5 December 1988:
Al&&, 12 December 1988)

/ . . *
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83. On 1 December, the IDF Judge Advocate-General T/A Amnon Strashnow told Officer
School Cadets that 45 charge sheets had been filed against soldiers and officers
for irregularities during service in the territories8 15 had been convicted and
2 had been acquitted. Sentences ranged from suspended terms to one year in jail
for manslaughter. (m’ara ,

84. On 12 December, the Supreme Court rejected the appeal by Yosef Harnoi, the
Eilon Moreh settler who was convicted of killing Aisha al-Bahsh, aged 11, in Nablus
in 1983. A three-justice panel rejected Harnoi’s  claim that he had suffered an
attack of epilepsy at the time of the shooting. (w, Jerusalem Post,
13 December 1988)

On 15 December, military court in Jaffa sentenced private Eli Yedid to
18 months’ imprisonment for manslaughter, for killing Yusuf Abu-Eid from Bidu
during a riot in March 1988. Yedid was found guilty of shooting Ahu-Eid after
seeing him throwing stones, (m Poet, 16 December 1988)

86. On 20 December, five soldiers, including a woman and an officer, were
convicted at the Central Region military court of ill-treatment of detainee8 in the
Dahiriya detention facility. In March 1988, the five ill-treated handcuffed and
blindfolded detainees. The charge sheet contained 22 counts. Lieutenant
Ueei Saadon was sentenced to five months’ imprisonment and seven months’ suspended
term and was demoted to private, Rfmon Goldstein, a military policeman, was
sentenced to three months’ imprisonmentr  Baruch Yaacov was given two and one h;.lf
month6 ’ imprisonment and four and one half months’ suspendedt  Victor Masika was
given nine months’ imprisonment and nine months’ suspended and Ronit Maliniak, a
woman soldier who served as telephone exchange operator in the facility, was given
one and a half months’ imprisonment and suspended - for hitting a detain80 with a
truncheon. (Ii&m, 21 December 1988) Al-Fab, 26 December 1988)

87. On 30 January, it was reported that the Southern Region military court had
sentenced an IDF officer, second lieutenant Alex Deutschman, to three months’
imprisonment and six months’ suspended term for causing the death of an Arab
resident of Bureij csmpl  out of negligence. The officer pleaded guilty. According
to the court, the officer had violated standing orders by deciding to open fire in
circumstance6 that did not justify such an action. (v, 30 January 1989)

88. On 30 January, the Supreme Court increased from 3 to 18 months’ imprisonment
the sentence given to Binyemin  Sa’adia who, with two accomplices, planned to set
fire to a hut in Or Yehuda in which three Arab workers were living. A suspended
term given to the defendant was also increased from 9 to 18 months. (Jerusalam
Eprif, 31 January 1989)

89. On 2 February, the Tdl Aviv district court sentenced Yaacov Batash,  aged 22,
of Or Yehuda to one year’6 imprisonment and one year’s suspended term. He was
convicted of having prepared a petrol bomb in order to set fire to a hut
accommodating Arab workers. (Hs’srete,  3 February 1989)

90. On 14 February, the Northern Region military court sentenced four soldier6 of
the Golani brigade to prison terms and demotion to the rank of private. The four

/ . . .
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were convicted of severely ill-treating an Arab while he was handcuffed and
blindfolded. They kicked him in all part6 of his body and extinguished a burning
cigarette on his body. Three of the defendants were each given one and a half
months' imprisonment and were demoted from staff-sergeant to private. The incident
occurred in July 1988 in Beit-Sahur  area. (l%t'aret&  15 February 1989; A.&-Q&,
20 February 1989)

91. On 29 March, it was reported that, according to MK Dedi Zucker, 600 inquiry
files had been opened since the beginning of the uprising against Soldier6 and
civilians employed by the IDF on suspicion of abuses in the territories (including
inquiries into all the cases of unnatural deaths). So far, only 27 cases had
reached the military courts; 46 Soldier6 and two IDF-employed civilian6 had been
put on trial. Only seven cases of manSlaUght0r (out of 370 case6 of death) had
reached the courts. In four of the cases suspects were charged with "causing death
out of negligence", and the other three were charged with manslaughter. There were
seven cases of detainee6 who died in detention facilities; in none of these cases
had suspects been put on trial. File6 of inquiries into cases of death that were
opened in February 1988 had not yet been closed and no decision had been taken. In
four cases sentences were given ranging from five months' suspended to one and a
half years' imprisonment. Out of 27 cases that reached the courts, 7 were cases of
death, 3 were "unfit behaviour", 1 was blackmail under threats, 3 were cruel
treatment, 6 were theft, 3 were illegal use of arms, 1 was causing injury
deliberately (resulting in death), 2 were cases of assault and 1 case of injury in
aggravated circumstances. Sentence6 in the case6 of theft (usually from detainee6
or persons checked at roadblocks) ranged from two weeks to six months in jail.
Sentences for unfit behaviour were suspended prison terms. All these detail6 were
included in letter6 MR Zucker addressed to the Defence Minister and the Attorney
General. A senicr military source reacted to the allegations by saying they were
politically motivated. He said since December 1987 over 600 files were opened,
including files concerninq  cases of death (2691,  and other offences. Some 58
soldiers and officer6 had been put on trial, including 20 in 12 cases of
manslaughter or causing death. (Ha.latet8,  29 and 31 March 1989)

. . . .C. Treaw of civilz~. ano f-ta1 free-

. .
(a) Harassment a&d nhvu1 ill-treatmeat

92. On 4 September 1988, it was reported that several residents of Jericho had
allegedly been harassed and ill-treated by IDF reservists during the previous
months. The allegation6 were transmitted to the 13F spokesman and the Central
Region Commander appointed an examining officer who investigated the allegations
and submitted his findings to the Region Commander. Following the incident the
Region Commander reiterated his instructions to soldiers serving in the West Bank
not to deviate from the rules that prohibited such practices. (w,
4 September 1988)

/ . . .
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93. On 6 September, it was reported that, following a report by a team rtf doctors
and toxicology experts commissioned by MK (member of the Kneeset) Dedi Zucker, who
warned that the use of tear-gas in closed spaces could be fatal, the IDP Qenrral
Staff issued a directive prohibiting soldiers from using gas in closed areas while
breaking up demonstrations in the territories. (v, Jerusalem Post,
6 September 1986)

94. On 1 October, figures released by UNRWA indicated a total of 760 Palestinians
injured in the Oaaa  Strip during the month of September as compared to
107 casualties in August, melve Pslestiniuns  (six from the West Bunk and six from
the Gasa Strip) were shot dead by IDF troops between 16 and 30 September 1988.
UNRWA’s figures also showed that 445 Gaaa residents had been injured by live
ammunition, 66 hit by rubber bullets or affected by tear-gas, and 249 beaten by IDF
troops. t-r, 11 October 1988)

95. On 2 October, it was reported that plastic bullets described as non-lethal by
Israeli Defence Minister Yitghak  Rabin had caused at least eight deaths since they
were used in early September, according to Palestinian medical sources in the
occupied territories, (Us, 2 October 1988)

96. On 17 October, it was reported that a group of reservists had complained to
the Defence Minister about the behaviour of a reserve tank unit in Kalkilya and Its
area in September 1988. One of the complainants, a medical student, said he had
been prevented from giving aid to a Palestinian who was badly beaten by the
soldiers. (m, wmPoet,  17 October 1988)

97. On 18 October# it was reported that cases of temporary confisca’:ion  of cars
belonging to Arab residents of the territories had recently increased. The cars
were being confiscated for army use, for various purposes, for several hours and
sometimes even for a whole day. Replying to a letter on the subject by
MK Dedi Zucker, Defence Minister Rabin said that that practice was ?n keeping with
international law. (Ha’are.te * 18 October 1988)

98. On 23 October, it was reported that MK Dodi Zucker had asked Defence
Minister Rabin to orde: that the practice of mock executions as a means of pressure
on witnesses, or as a ::orm of ill-treatment, be ceased, According to MK Zucker, he
had received two complaints of such a practice over the previous fortnight.
(musalam.,  23  October  1988)

99. On 10 and 11 November, it was reported that residents of Nablus had complained
about soldiers entering homes, beating up occupants, vandalising furniture and
ransacking closets. (m, m PQaf,  10 and 11 November 1968)

100. On 16 November, a 24-year-old  handicapped Palestinian was severely beaten by
Israeli border policeman when they raided the village of Eysswiya  to disperse a
march by women celebrating the declaration of independence- The lrouth  was later
hospitalized.  (m, 24 November 1988)

101. On 20 November, late at r.ight, a group of soldiers smashed windows of cars and
homes and overturned a vehiclt at the Kalandiya refugee camp, north of Jerllaalem,

/ . . .
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after a bus in which they wera riding was stoned, The Central Region Commander,
Pmrtun Mitsna, reportedly ordered that an inquiry be conducted into the incident.
On 23 November, it was reported that the soldiers involved in the incident were
16 members of a paratroopers unit hasbled  by an off icrr. On 24 November, it was
reported that the officer, a platoon commander, had been given a two-week jail
sentence, and that he would be ruspended  from his post. (m, Jarusalem,
22, 23 and 24 November 1988)

102, On 28 November, MR Muhammad Miari urqed the Defence Minister to investigate
sllegations OL troops using a new, unspecified burning material against Palestinian
children and aciolescents. According to an Isresli source close to the &l It-
Hospital in Nablus, several youths had been admitted to the hospital over the past
month lrith swrious burns. An Israeli physician who ersmined  the boys said they
were suffering from sever.8  burns. The IDF spokesman denied the allegations and
said the boys had played with inflammable material khat caused the burns. The
spokesmen strossed that. the IDF did not ube any inflammable material or any other
material liable to cause burns. (U-m, 30 November 198P;  U,
24 November 1988)

103.  On 5 December, three Palesti;.ian  children were reported under treatment in
Al Ittihad Hcspital in Nablus after suffering severe burns from explosive objects
in the shape of candy bars thrown at them by Israeli 6oldiels. The three were
named Mabmud Abu Jawad, aged 10, from Tamoun (his family was recently  expelled Erom
the Jeftlik area in the Jericho ValleyIt Maled  Saleh, aged 14, from Kabetiyat  and
Samour Bisharat, from Tamoun. The Israeli a&my spokesman denied the use of such
burning meteriirl  in the occ;lpied  territories. Two other children were treat.ed for
similar burna, according to reports. iti-Fak,  5 December 1988)

104.  On 7 December, all vehicles owned by villagers in Tamoun were seised. The
measures was seen as punishment for the killing of a Jewish settler a month earlier
by one of the villagers and to prevent the residents from cultivating their land in
the Jiftlrk area in t&be Jordan Valley. (M-u, 12 December 1988)

105. On 20 December, it was report.ed that residents of Mghayir, near Ramallah,
alleged that they had beun abu.~+S by border police during a raid before dawn on
3 December. According to vil1ayer.u  ’ ac-ounts a group of 50 men were taken from
their homes and ordered to paint over nationalist graffiti and remov’  Palestini 1
flags. Most of the men were 50 years of age and older, since younger men had f ,dd
the village. The men’s hands were bound behind their backs, and they were 1eC: to a
neighbouring valiey, as border police beat and Llmiliated  them. A gravel-canno.
W&E driven into the vSl1age and fired at homes, smashing windows and wounding a
young woman in one of the houses, The men were allegedly held until &z:‘.rt 10 a.m.,
when the police put the villt.+rs  ID cards on the ground, walked away, an\4  f;.,ad
tsar-gas at the grou:,  that was still handcuffed, as officers looked on. A border
police spokesman declined to comment on the reported incident and an army spokesman
said the allegations wore being investigt:ed. (JmEPafi,  20 December 1988)

106. 3n 25 December, it was reported that MK Dedi Zuck*r had said in a letter to
Defence Minister Rabin that dozens of seriously ill Palestinians in t-he West Bank
had died a8 a result of dreLt,ie restrictions on hospitalisation  in Israel imposed
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by the civil administration during the uprising. According to Israeli doctors
cited by MK Zucker, three morths  after the start of the uprising, virtually all
hospitalieation  of West Bank residents (in Israeli hospitals) ceased. The level of
hospitalisation dsclfned to 20 per cent of its previous level. According to those
doctor6, hoapitaliaation in Israel was being denied to person6 sufferlnq from
serious and malignant diseases. MK Zucker further repi>rted PA virtual halt of
hospitalisation in Israel of Palestinian children up to aqs three, who had mandatory
health insurance. These children had been treated in Israel for cancer, kidney and
heart illnesses, and for amputations. In addition, licensing for nine local
ambulance6 had been delayed. A cpokesman  for the civil administration confirmed a
reducticn  in referrals to Israeli hospitals, but said this wa6 the result of budget
difficulties and not a punitive measure. On 12 January 1989, it wa6 reported that
20 Kneaset members from six faction6 were urging Defence Minister Rabin to restore
the earlier liberal policy regarding hospitalisation in Israel of Arabs from the
territories. (JBE,IL&u&,  25 December 19881 12 and 26 January 1989)

107. On 12 February 1989, a senior commander in the Gaaa Strip testified in the
trial of four soldiers of the Givati brigade charged with causing the death of
Hani Shami of Jabaliya camp. He said that Southern Region Commander,
Aluf Yitahak Mordekiai, had given explicit orders to beat Arab rioters so that they
should not repeat their deeds. He said the Chief of Staff had not referred to the
use of beating when he talked with soldiers. (w, 13 February 1989)

1G’O. On 13 February, the Israeli police was reported to have broken into an
elementary school in N.reareth  and arrested an 11-year-old boy for drawing the
colours of the Palestinian flag on his ruler. (w, 13 February 1989)

109. On 22 March, residents of the Nablus Casbah continued to complain about
vandalieing and beating during searche6, including breakage of household item6 and
ransacking of contents of homes. On 26 March, there were more complaint6 from
Nablus residents about attacks and harassment by soldier6 of civilian6 who were not
involved in violeut  protest. !Jerusalem, 23 March 19891 i&!&u&&, 23 and
27 March 1989)

110. During the period undo consideration, the Special Committee received reports
from various newspaper6 pr. iling information on various forms of collective
punishment imposed on the civilian population in contradiction with the provisitins
of the Fourth Geneva Convention, This period witnessed a considersble  amount of
such measure6 of collective punishment, implemented in three main way61 the
demolition of houses, the imposition of curfews or sealing off certain areas and
the imposition of economic sanctions. Owing to the frequency of these cases,
which, if listed individually, would have taken up con6iderable space, only a few
examples are cited below in order to illrl6trate  the situation in that rtqard.

111. On 20 October 19RR, it. was I-eport-ed t.hat., 6incc!  the beginning of the uprising,
the IDF had demolished about 100 homes in the West Bank and Gaza Strip. (Hd’arctz,
20 October 1988)
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112. On 21 October, the IDF demoll6hed two houses in Al Sabra quarter and in
Jabaliya refrlgee camp in the Sass :3trip alleging that their ownere  had participated
in throwing fire bombo  at Israeli patrols, Nine other houses were demolished in
Salem and Beit Furik. (w, 23 October 1988)

113. On 8 November, the IDF demolished some 20 shacks, hut6 and tents in the Jiftlik
area in the Jordan Valley, belonging to Arab agricultural workers and shepherds,
The Arabs were driven out of the area. The operation was carried out following the
killing, on 6 November 1980, of a reservist in the nearby Massu’a settlement. Most
o? the Arab6 expelled were from T&noun, the village of the reservi6t’s  assailant.
In Tamoun itself, which was under curfew, troops demolished the assailant’s family
house and a half-built house which belonged to his brother. On 11 November, it was
reported that the demolition6 and the eviction of Arabs continued in the Jiftlik
area, and that 70 families had thus lost their improvised shacks and had been told
to leave the area. (Hm, JBruselem”&,  9, 11 November 1988)

114. On 17 November, it was reported that 140 houses, including 72 home6 in
Jiftlik, had been demolished during the previous week in the occupied territories,
making about 170 Palestifiian families homeless. The authorities claimed that these
hOUSeS had been built without permits. The Israeli army also demolished nine
houses in the Gasa Strip belonging to alleged members of the Islamic Jihad
organisation who had recently been arrested. In addition, 11 other house6 had been
demolished in Bani Naim and Tulkarem allegedly because the owners had been involved
in anti-Israeli act:vities.  (&j&&, 13 November 19881  -4, 17 November 1988)

115. On 29 November, it was reported that the IDF had demolished 10 West Bank home;
that belonged to members of 13 cells of suspected terrorists.  (J&Q&&&I&Q&,
29 November 1986)

116. Oa 1 December, 19 houses were reported to have been demolished during the
previous week in the occupied territories, including 10 for security reafions  and
9 ethers on ground6 Lhat building permits had not been issued for them. (A.t.tati,
1 December 1988)

117. On 8 December, it was reported that in addition to tha 140 hOUSe  demolished
mentioned in the report of Deputy Chief of Staff Ehud Barak, 353 houses had been
demolished for alleged unauthorised building, 20 had been partially demolished anti
60 other6 had been sealed off for security reasons, bringing the total nwnber of
houses affected by these measures to 592. Moreover:, over 1,000 trees, mostly olive
trees, were uprooted. (A_ttalia, 8 December 1988)

118. On 14 December, IDF destroyed the only health clinic in the villaqe of Bi’lin
allegedly because the building was not licenced. (Al-Fak,  19 December 19AA)

119. On 19 December, it was reported that the Israeli authorities had demolished
13 house6 during the week from 13 to 18 De-ember 1988. Seven other houses were
demolished the previous week in Kafr Neema,  Sabsteya, and Asira  al Kabliya, Al Dorj
quarter, in Gaza. (m, 22 December 1988)
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120.  On 12 January 1989, the Israeli authorities were reported to have demolished
six houses in areas around the villages of Jenin and Nablus alleging unauthorized
building, (u, 19 January 1969)

121. On 26 January, the IDF demolished or sealed seven houses belonging to families
of SuEipected  petrol-bomb throwers in the West Bank and sealed a room of a youth
convicted of throwing petrol bombs. The civil administration demolished 16 house6
in several West Bank villages that were built without authorisation. In Tulkarem,
the IDF demolished a two-storer  house in which two families lived. The son of one
of these families, the Halt& family, was suspected of membership in a group
responsible for a number of petrol-bomb attacks. Tulkarem residents alleged that
the dynamiting of the house damaged nine other houses nearby. Another four houses
were demolished in Akraba village, south-east of Nablus. A fifth house was
sealed. They belonged to families of suspected members of a group responsible for
petrol-bomb attacks. At the al-Fawar camp, near Hebron, troops sealed part of the
home of the femily of Subhi  Naja, who was convicted of a petrol-bomb attack on an
IDF tank carrier on 25 February 1988. l-p, Jetusalem Post, 27 January 1989)

122. On 26 February, the IDF blew up the upper floor of a building in the Nablus
Casbah, from where assailants had dropped the rock that killed Israeli staff
sergeant Binyarnin Meisner  the previous week. Windows of homes overlooking the
alley were sealed and the gate to t.he alley was removed in preparation for sealing
the area off. The building partially demolished belonged to the Tukan family. The
floor that was demolished was unoccupied. The explosion of the floor also
destroyed two neighbouring apartments whose ceiling6 collapsed, leaving 17 per601r6
homeless  I Other windows and roofs nearby were also damaged. (W’arm, &z~&U$rn
&XL, 27 February 1989) ;81-Fa,  6 March 1989)

123. On 2 March, the civil administration demolished 17 houses in Idna, near
Hebron, on the grounds that they had been built without a permit. (Ha’arett,
5 March 19891 Atfalia,  9 March 1989)

124. On 7 March, Nablus was ‘laced under curfew to prevent rioting while sappers
dynamited the houses of the families of Ibrahim Takatuk and Samir a-Na’anish, who
were suspected of killing Israeli soldier Binyamin Meiccner. According to Casbah
resident6 the demolition of the two houses caused extensive damage to neighbouring
houses, (w, Jerusalem Post, 8, 9 and 10 March 1989; u, 9 March 1989:
ALFajr,  13 March 1909)

125. On 14 March, the civil administration demolished 15 homes in the Wef,t  Bank c)n
the grounds that they were built without a permit. Five house6 were demolished in
Halhul, two in Beit-Qnar  and two in Beita. Other houses were demolished in the
,lenin region. The previous day seven home6 were demolished in FUreidi6,  near
Bethlehem, and two in Beita. (WB, J-m PO&t,  15 and 21 March 1989;
AlUlti, 16 March 1989)

126. On 20 March, the Palestinian human right6 monitoring group Al-Haq published
sta’ istics 6hOwing  that at least 672 houses had been demoljshed  in the occupied
territories  since the outbreak of the uprising in December 1987. The alleged
reason  for demolition was that they had been built without a permit. (AlXsjr,
20 March 1989)
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127. On 23 March, the Israeli authorities were reported to have ordered the
demolition of 49 houses and the eeeling  off of one house during the previous two
weeks. The demolition orders were given on the grounds that the houses had been
built without a permit or for alleged security reasons. (&,&&U, 23 March 1989)

128. On 6 September 1988, the security forces embarked on an unprecedented
operation of searches and arrests in the town of Kalkilya. A curfew was imposed,
b. hich was lifted eight days later, on 14 September, The operation started before
dawn. Troops surrounded the town of 25,000, blocked access roads and diverted
traf f i c . Phone links were cut. (m, -Post, 7 and 15 September 1988)

129. On 9 September, there were reports of acute shortages of food in the village
of Bani Naim, which had been under curfew for 13 days. (Al-Fair, 11 September 1968)

130. On 14 September, it was reported that the IDF had staged an operation, similar
to the one in Kalkilya, in the village of Kafr Malek, north-east of Ramallah. The
village was sealed off and placed under curfew. Soldiers with prepared lists of
suspects moved from house to house, backed by a helicopter used to spot fleeing
youths. The village was reportedly targeted because of its proximity to a road
leading to neighbouring Jewish settlements and becauee it had been the site of
attack8 on settlers’ vehicles. Similar operations were also reported in four
villages in the Tulkarem areas Raft Zibad,  Kafr Abush,  Kafr Sur and Kafr Jamal.
(&&‘areu, Jerusalem, 14 September 1988; &l-F&, 18 September 19@8)

131. On 6 November, it was t*eported  that the village of Burke in the Jenin district
remained under curfew for tae fifteenth consecutive day. Villagers had been
prevented from harvesting their olives. (Al&, 6 November 1988)

132. From 11 to 14 November, the Israeli army placed most towns and refugee camps
in the West Bank and the Gasa Strip under a week-long curfew. On 15 November,
Independence Day, over 1 million Palestinians were reportedly under curfew.
(AU&U& 17 November 1988)

133. On 6 December, it was reported that reefdents of three West 8ank village6 that
had been under curfew for long periods of time had been complaining cf severe food
shortages,  in particular, of milk for babies, In Kafr Malek, near :;&nallah, which
had been under curfew or sealed off for 20 days, villagers said the situation was
serious. The IDF denied reports of shortages and said food deliveries were being
made regularly, and that the curfew was lifted daily for two hours to allow
residents to stock up on supplies. The two other localities where there were
complaints about food shortages were the al-Amasi camp, which has been under curfew
for 16 days, and Kalkilya (8 days). (m, 6 December 1988r JeruselemPost,
4 December 1988)

134. On 13 January 1989, it was reported that, for the third time in the history of
Israeli rule in East Jerusalem a w!despread  p lice operation accompanied by B
curfew had been carried out in Sil*rsn. Local residents complained that police used
harsh measures, including collective psrnishrnsnt  in retaliation for the deeds of a
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few troublemakers, The Israeli Broadcasting Authority took advantage of the curfew
to seise the television sets and video units from residents who failed to pay their
license fees. Officials impounded some 30 eete. On 17 Januery, it was reported
that the curfew imposed on Silwan  had been lifted the previous day, According to
residents, during the four-day curfew teams of police and inspectors visited homes,
accompanied by tax officials, National Insurance representatives, television
license-fee collector6 and people tracking down unpaid parking tickets. Houses
were searched room by room and some 30 people were arreeted. Residents accused the
border police of vandalising their property and humiliating them. (Jerusalem,
13, 16 ant! 17 January 1989)

( iii 1 ll.nposi~

135. On 8 September 1988, Israeli tax inspectors, accompanied by recur i ty forces,
increased their harassment of Arab taxpayers in the northern part of the
West Bank. Actions included raids on houses and shops, confiscation of identity
cards, and checkpoints in streets to stop driver8 who had not paid their taxes etc.
(m, 8 September 1988)

136, On 14 September, it was reported that residents of Kalkilya had been
complaining of shortage6 of fresh food and of milk for infants, Electricity and
water supplies had been periodically interrupted, and fruit tree& and other crops
outside the town were being damaged because of lack of irrigation during the
curfew. (Ha’ar.ti,  &r.usalsm  Post, 14 September 1988)

137. On 22 September, it was reported that the authorities wore planning to we the
forthcoming olive-picking season in the West Bank to hit back at “problematic”
villages by banning their export of olives and olive oil, Tell, near Nablue, which
for over a month was forbidden to market its figs and yoghurt, had already been
warned that its olive exports would be blocked if unrest resumed. Halhul  was
forbidden to export its grapes as punishment for violent protests. (m#
impost, 22 September 1988r Al-Fajr, 25 September 1988)

138, On 20 October, IDF authorities were reported to have banned the olive harvest
in several West Bank villages. The measure wa8 taken against villages that took
part in protest activities, including Deir Al Hatab, Burin and Al Labn Al Sharkeya,
near Nablus, Al Zawiya, near Tulkarem, Bala’, near Anbata, Barka,  near Jenin, and
Idna in the diotrict  of Hebron. In a related development, owrLrS  of olive
presses were notified that they had to make advance tax payment before olive
presses were allowed to open. (m, 20 October 19882 &I-Fab,  23 October 1988)

139. On 10 November, tax officials undertook raids in most towns in the occupied
territories, harassing citizens, arresting shopowners, seiaing  goods, erecting
checkpoints in streets and closing shops. (m, 10 November 1988)

140. On 1 December, the Israeli tax officials carried out their threat to
confiscate goods and property of residents who refused to pay their tax bills.
Several shops were raided and a number of shopowners were also arrested. (AU,
1 December 1988)
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141. On 12 December, the Israeli authorities destroyed thousands of olive trees
belonging to the village of Musmus near Au1 Ul-Fahm  for allegedly bein:! grown on
State land. (Al-Fa+t, 12 December 1988)

142. On 19 December, the Israeli television announced new regulations by the
Israeli civil administration concerning the entry of money into the occupied
territories, Individual Palestinians coming from Jordan or Egypt were allowed to
bring with them no more than JD 200 (approximately $5001, down from JD 400
(approximately $1,000). Residents bringing in up to JD 500 had to reveal the
source of money and prove that it did not come from hostile sourcesr For smounts
above JD 500, residents had to display special permission from the Israeli civil
administration. According to Palestinian businessmen, the measure made it
difficult for them to bring in revenues from their exports, thus weakening the cash
flow in the ares. (m, 26 December 1988)

143. On 29 December, it was reported that 907 trees belonging to Arab villagers had
been uprooted by IDF troops and Jewish settlers during the past week. (Atbl.i.~,
29 December 1988)

144. On 4 January 1989, it was reported that soldiers in Nablus had begun
implementing the defence authorities’ policy of fining parents of ycung
stone-thrower-s NIS 1,000 to NIS 1,500 (approximately $550 to $840). According to
Nablus residents, in the month, children ranging in age from 6 to 10, as well as
teenagers, had been rounded up by troops on suspicion of stone-throwing1 they were
taken to military headquarters and their parents were summoned to the building and
ordered to pay fines on pain of imprisonment, According to security sources,
70 per cent of stone-throwing incidents involved children too young to be tried in
court. (Jerusslem  Post, 4 January 1989)

145. On 12 January, it was reported that several thousand  Arabs from the occupied
territories working in Israel in the industrial and services sectors had been
dismissed from their work during 1988. Officials claimed the measure was taken
because of frequent absences due to solidarity of these workers with strikers in
the territories. (A-, 12 January ?989)

146. On 16 February, it was reporttid that since the beginning of the upriring the
Israeli authorities had uprooted 105,364 troes in the occupied territories.
(&ta, 16 February 1989)

147. r)n 9 March, it was reported that Israeli military bulldozers had uprooted over
1,670 trees during the previous week in several villages including Kafin
(35 trees), Artass (l,OOO), and Khalet Jabal Al Aroud, near Al Khedr (500).
(A_tfaU, 9 Msrch 1989)

148. On 29 March, it was reported that troops had uprooted hundreds of trees along
roads in Semaria where stone-throwing incidents had recently taken place. Some
120 fruit trees had been uprooted on 28 March 1989 near Mas’kq  village, after
settlers ’ cars had been stoned. Palestinian sources alleged that since
December 1987, over 23,000 trees had been uprooted in the West Bank, but military
sources said these figures were exaggerated, and that “no more than 1,000 to
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2,000 trees were uprooted”, Owners did not receive compensation for their trees,
although they were almost never involved in violent incidents occurring near their
plantations, (m, 29 March 1989)

149. On 30 Merch,  it was reported that the Israeli euthorities  had uprooted over
1,400 trees between 17 end 18 March 1989 in different locslities throughout the
occupied territories, (Attalia, 30 March 1989)

(iv) Other of ml-
150. On 5 September, the High Court of Justice upheld an IDF ban m international
telephone calls from the territories, besed on an emergency reguletion dating back
to 1945. The High Court ruled that the ban, issued by Central Region Commander
Amram Mitanr on 10 hpr?,l  1988, fell within the latter’s powers to “restrict,
requlate or impose conditions” on telephone use in order to prevent exchange of
information among hostile elements. The court dismissed the petitioners’ claim
that the ban constituted a form of collective punishment, (e Post,
6 September 1988)

151, On 28 September, the Arabic daily &&&!.b  reported that water, electricity and
were of for 

mcnth. Residents were also banned from travel. The village of Hablash
in the Nablus area hed had its water end electricity cut off for 40 days. (AA-X&,
2 October 1988)

152. On 27 October, the Israeli authorities declared that water would be cut off in
several Palest!nian  villages end towns allegedly because residents had not paid
their water bills, (Al-F&, 30 October 1988)

153. On 1 September, it was reported that the president of the military court in
Qasa, S/A (Lt. Cal,) Eli Zicherman, had ruled that the heerinqs of the appeals by
10 Gesa  residents against their expulsion would be hold in public session.
S/A Zicherman made this decision in his cepacfty  es chsirmen  of the advisory
committee at the IDF Southern Commend crssiqned  with heering the appeals. The Judge
Advocate-General and the military prosecutor had erguod that the hearing was an
administrative procedure and not e judiciel one and was therefore not subjected to
the principle of open court. iut the chairman ruled that since the same material
would also be considered by the High Court of Justice, where hearings were public,
there was no reeson to hold the hearings in camere.  (w, 1 September 1988)

154.  On 4 September, Said Hussein Hassan Barakat and Riad Ashour  appeared before a
military review board in Gaea to appeal deportation orders issued against them.
The hearjngs were held in open court, According to the prosecutor, Barakat had
signed a 15-page confession admitting he had made speeches end had written leaflets
inciting to violence. The euthoritias  originelly had planned to put him on trial
and had filed charges against him on 31 July 1988, hut changed their minds and on
17 August 1988 the Southern Region Commander signed a deportetion order. As for
Ashour, he was alleged to be a PLO activist who headed “popular committees”, which
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had recently been outlawed. The prosecutor submitted “secret evidence” to back the
decisi6n to expel the two, (B, 5 September 1988)

155. On 16 November, an adviaory committee et the IDF Southern Region Command,
considering the expulsion of 10 Gasa Strip residents, decided to recommend to the
Region Commander that 8 of the 10 be expelled. The committee recommended thst

I
Muhammad Maduh end Riad Ashour  not be expelled. (b’aretlp, 17 November 1988)

156. On 25 November, it was reported that the Israeli objections committee approved
the decision t.> expel six Palestinians from the West Bank. All six reportedly were
going to eppeal their expulsion orders to the Israeli High Court. (M-Fair,
28 November 1988)

157. On 14 December, three G.150 residents were expelled to Lebanon, They were
Ahmed Hassan Muhena, aged 39, Isse Eid Saleh Hamadah, aged 60, and
Abdul Fatah  Mahmud Eiadeh,  aged 55. None of the three was on the list of 26 pltople
who had been served with expulsion orders in July. (m# Jsrusalem ,
15 December 1988; U-Fair,  19 December 1988)

158. On 27 December, deportation orders aqeinst two Gasa residents were withdrawn
in the High Court of Justice after they agreed to leave the country voluntarily for
f ive  yeers, The two men, Atte Abu Kirsh, aged 52, and.Nabil T&US,  aged 22,
promised not to engsge in any hostile activity or to disrupt public order in the
Gase  Strip over the next five years. Four other Gasa residents were ordered
deported by the Court after they declined  to sign similar agreements and withdrew
their appeals. (-em Post, 23 December 19i161 Attalia, 29 December 1988)

159. On 1 lanuary  1989, the IDF deported to south Lebanon 13 Palestinien residents
of the territories, including two employees of UNRWA. All 13 - 7 from the
West Bank end 6 from the Gssa Strip - were among the 25 Palestinisns served with
deportation orders on 17 August 1988. All 13 were accused of membership in popular
committees and of playing key roles in the direction of the uprising, including the
pausing of information from terrorist groups abroad. All 13 term!nated  legal
proceedings in their appeals of their deporation  orders to the Hign Court of
Justics. They were the followingr Hani Hallub, aged 28, of Tulkarem:
Othman Daoud, aged 27, of Kalkilya;  Abdul-Hamid  Baba, aged 25, of the Amari csmpr
Jamal Farsj, aged 25, of Dheishehl  Yusuf Odeh, aged 25, o f  Balate;  Issam D i b ’ i ,
aged 24, of Nablus; Mas’ud  Eu’aytar,  eged 42, of Nablus; Sa’id Baraka, aged 32, of
Gaaa;  Fathi Hajaj, aged 36, of Jabaliyar Abdullah Samhadaneh, aged 38, of Gaza)
Ayish Abu-Sa’adeh, aged 30, a teacher in the UNRWA school in Jabaliyat
Risk al-Bayari, aged 29, a journalist and teacher in the UNRWA  school in Gaze; and
Min’am Abu-Ataya, aged 33, of Gasa. Two others who were server! deportation orders
at the same time, Atta Abu Kirsh, aged 52, of Shatl and Nabil Tamus, aged 21, of
Gaza,  agreed to leave on their own volition and cancel their appeals to the High
Couri ior five years, and promised to refrain from hostile activity and
incitement. W!th these expulsions, the total number of Palestinians deported since
the beginning of the uprising reached 47 (28 from the West Bank and 19 from the
Gasa Strip). (Ha’aretP,  wm Post, 2 January 1989; m, 5 January 1989)

/ . . .
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160. On 16 February, it was reported that Saleh AAdallah, aged 23, and his sister
Haifa, aged 22, of the Ein Beit al-Ma camp near Nablue, had been deported to Jordan
without prior notice on grounds that they had no identity cards. They were refused
entry to Jordan and their attorney, Felicia Langer, applied to the legal adviser of
the West Bank to enable them to return to their homes. Sources in the civil
administration reported that the two were not “residents of the region” and had
lived there since the late sixties “illegally”. On 26 February, it was reported
that the civil administration had no intention of going back on its decision not to
allow the two to return to the West Bank. A senior source in the civil
administration told Na’aretq  that the main consideration in the decision not to
allow them back was the fear of setting a precedent that may force the authorities
to give the status of residents to thousands of people whose situation was
identical to that of Saleh and Haifa Abdallah. (m, m Post, 16 and
26 February 1989)

2 .  Measures  affectina term frm

161. On 23 February 1989, it was reported that Taher Shriteh, aged 28, a journalist
from Caza, had been summoned to the civil administration  after having applied, six
weeks earlier, for a travel permit to Egypt. He was told that his request was
being rejected because he had been assisting foreign journalists on their visits to
Gasa.  (Jerubrlem, 23 February 1989)

162. On 24 February, Southern Region Commander Yitshak Mordekhai said that, as at
26 February 1989, car owners in the Gaza Strip woulc!  receive stickers to apply to
the front and back of their cars to enable them to enter Israel freely, Some
25,000 cars would be given such stickers, but several hundred carowners who had
committed “violations of public order’ would not receive their stickers and would
not be able to enter Israel with their cars. According to the Southern Region
Comm ande r , the procedure would enable any employer or security official in Israel
to distinguish the carfi  from a distance.  (m, Jerusalem,
26 February 1989)

163. On 14 March, it was reported that the civil administration had recently issued
identity card6 to dozens of Palestinians suspected of organising disturbances.
Bearers of the new green cards would not be permitted to cross the Green Line into
Israel. The civil administration asked employers in Israel not to hire West Bank
residents who held such cards, The police, working in conjunction with the civil
administration, would enforce the new regulations in Israel and warn that anyone
who violated them would be prosecuted. A similar step had been taken earlier with
regard to Gaze Strip residents. (wu, Jerusalem Post, 14 March 198Y)

164. On 4 September 1988, Hatem Abd el-Kader, aged 33, a journalist for the East
Jerusalem daily A.l=E’aj r , was arrested by the Jerusalem police and placed under
administrative detention for six months. (b&r&&,  5 September 1988)

/ . . .
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165. On 5 September, two journalists were arrested: Salah Zuheika, the acting
editor of A&B.!&,  and Hassan el-Khatib, the sports editor of &l-F&. (~‘arats
6 September 1988)

166. On 5 September, Hatem Abdel ,Rader,  managing editor of the daily Al-F&,  was
arrested in the newspaper’s offices. ALdel  Kader had been arrested earlier under
an administrative detention order and he.d for 52 days. He was released pending
the review of his case by the Israeli DeZence  Minister after his lawyer found a
fault in the detention order. Other Al-Pa& staff recently arrested under
administrative detention orders were Sami Abu Jundi, sports editor; Musa Czadat,
correspondent in the Hebron area, Kaddura Mussa..  correspondent in the Jenin arear
Talal Abu Afifeh, day editor, and Mussa Kous, translator. Another staff member,
Mahmud Ramahi,  was currently serving a seven-year prison term on political charges.
(m, 25 September 1988)

167. On 15 September, Rsfik Yunls, &&.!h correspondent, was put under a six-month
administration detention order after being held in detention on unspecified charges
for 25 days. (A,LX&,  18 September 1988, from a)

168. On 18 September, it was reported that the civil administration in the
West Bank had banned the distribution in the territories of the East Jerusalem
daily &L-Fafi  for 45 days, following the publication of an “antisemitic  curtoon”.
In response, the editorial board of the newspaper decided to hold a one-week
strike. (m, 18 September 1988)

169, On 2 October, it was reported that the administrative order closing the
Palestinian Office for Press Services in East Jerusalem, headed by Raymonda  Tawil
and Ibrahim Karain, was extended by one year by order of the Central Region
Commander Amram Mitena. (Halatets I 2 October 1988; Attalia, 6 October 1988)

170,  On 6 Novemt.ei, it was reported that administrative detention orders had been
issued against the chairman of the Palestinian Authors Association and against a
Palestinian journalist, Nabhan Haraisheh, of Jenin. Both had already served
several administrative detention periods. (Ha’aret;l , 6 November 1988)

171.  On 7 November, it was reported that Nasser Muhammad Sa’adeh, aged 32, of A-Ram
neighbourhood, north of Jerusalem, who had been arrested two months earlier in
conrdction  with the uncovering of a printing-house where the illegal communist
paper “al-Watan” was printed, had been placed under a six-month administrative
detention order. His family alleged that the decision was taken after it appeared
that there was not enough evidence against him in order to put him on trial.
(m, 7 November 1988)

172. On 10 November, Hana Seniora, editor of Al-Fair, said in a press conference
that since the beginning of the Palestinian uprising 24 Palestinian journalists had
been put in administrative detention. The press conference was organized to urge
the release of an $&F@ journalist, Khatem Abdel Kader Id, who was being held in
administrative detention in the Beersheba  prison. (U’areb, asPost,
11 November 1988)
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173. On 5 January 1989, the security forces detained Muhammad Arikat, the
administrative director of M-Fajx and editor of its weekly magaaine
AUJ.t&.xi,JaBiB,  and placed him in administrative detention for six months.
Arikat, a resident of Abu-Dis, had been released from administrative detention in
Ketaiot two months earlier. (U’arm , 6 January 1989)

174. On 18 February, Sam’an Khoury, a journalist from East Jerusalem, was placed in
administrative detention for six months, He was reportedly employed by Agence
France Presser and was a senior member of the Palestinian Journalists ASSOCiatiOn.
HP had served in the past another administrative detention tarm. He participated,
together with Faisal iiU660ini and other Palestinian public figures, in a meeting
held the previous week in East Jerusalem with members of the Labour party.
(ti&i%~t~,  19 February 1989; U-Fajr, 27 February 1989)

175. On 13 February, three East Jerusalem journalists were placed in administrative
detention for six months, They were named as Abd el-Latif al-Ghith, member of the
board of directors of the Palestinian Journalists Association, Hassan Abu-Rabu
(according to another report - Adnan Shalaldeh of A-Tur) and Nabil al-Joulani,
owner of Al-Hayat press office that was ordered closed several months earlier.
According to Palestinian sources 30 journalists were being held in administrative
detention. (b’areu, &XUBUD  POE&, 20 February 1989)

 On 21 February, the head of the Palestinian Authors Association,
six months. He had

served a similar term which he finished just one 
as head of ASSOCiatiOn. (H&&u&% , 22 February 1989; A.U&jj,
27 February 1989)

177. On 1 March, &-9ra86; newspaper reported that the Israeli authorities had placpd
journalist Yussef Al Yubeh under a six-month administrative detention order. Hu
had b&f) arrested on 17 February 1989. He had already spent rcine months in
administrative detention and had been released only in November of 1988. (Mu,
6 March 1989)

178. On 3 March, the Israeli Commissioner of the Northern District,  Qala’ji,
AU&y4 al1egin.d

financed by the Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine. Earlier the Israeli
euthorities  closed another Arabic newspaper, m Al-w claiming that it was
financed by the Democratic Front for the Liberation of  (Al-Fak,
6 March 1989; At.tu.3, 9 March 1989)

179. On 6 Septembor 1988, it was repvrted that the civil administration in the
West Bank was acting against Palestinian attempts to hold classes in place of
schools closed down by the military government. On 5 September, the IDF closed
down ths Society of Friends of Al-Najah University in Nablus after classes were

.n Several days earlier the security forces stopped a class at
the Abu-Dis college and arrested 12 Gtudents  and two teachers, On 7 September,
security forces raided several vocational training centres in Tulkarem on suspicion

/ . . .
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that classes were being held there. (m, BPost, 6, 8 and
20 September 19881 M-Fab, 11 September 1988)

180. On 19 September, 14 educational centres in Nablus were ordered closed until
further notice by the Israeli military authorities, (/&&j.~,  25 September 1988)

181. On 27 September, the Israeli authorities ordered the closure of the Islamic
Orphans’ School in Jerusalem for five days a8 a first warning, and threatened to
close it for an indefinite period should students take part in riots. The Nieameya
Girls’ School in Jerusalem was also closed for one week on grounds that students
took part in demonstrations. Eight girls were arrested. (m,
29 September 1988)

182. On 2 October, it was reported that all schools and educational institutions in
the West Bank would be closed, by order of the civil administration, until
15 November 1988. (a-2, m, 2 October 1988) w, 6 October 1988)

183. On 20 October, it was reported that six schools were ordered closed during the
previous week, five in East Jerusalem and one in the Gasa Strip. (Attalia,
20 October 1988)

184, On 7 November, it was reported that the civil administration in the West Bank
would extend the order closing all schools in the region, which was to expire on
15 November  1988. On 15 November, it was decided to extend the order by one
month. c)n 20 November, it was reported that the civil administration would open
the academic year in the West Bank over the first three weeks of December 1988,
unless there was an escalation in the level of violence in the region. According
to the plan, elementary schools would be opened first; one week later,
pre-secondary schools would be opened, and the secondary schools would be opened on
the third week. The reopening of schools would necessitate the evacuation by IDF
troops of over a doaen schools that were being used by the army as barracks.
(tj&.~&&  7, 17, 20 November 1988)

185. On 11 November, the Israeli Jerusalem municipality ordered three schools
closed until 17 November. Later, all East Jerusalem schools were ordered closed on
14 and 15 November as a pre-emptive  move in light of the PNC meeting. (Ux&&,
13 November 1988)

186. On 13 November, two schools in Gaea were ordered closed for two months
bringing the number of schools closed in the Gasa Strip to seven. (u-Fa&,,
13 November 1988)

187. On 15 November, the West Bank military governor issuecr  an order keeping all
West Bank education institutions closed until 1 December 1988. (A,lZ&,
21 November 1988)

186. On 1 December, it was reported that (lasses at West Bank elementary schools
were to resume  after a closure of over four months, which had been ordered by the
civil administration on grounds that schools had become centres of protest. By th?
end of December, more than 300,000 pupil:: at 1,194 government, private and UNRWA
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schools were expected to be back at their classes. Universities were to remain
closed indefinitely. ~86 also reported that the Rashidiyeh  school in East
Jerusalem was ordered closed indefinitely after pupils refused to follow the full
curriculum and were obeying instructions of the uprising’s underground leadership
to leave school early. (&,.&L&B, &uuAl.an~t, 1 December 19881 Al-Paj,
5 December 1988)

189. On 1 December, the Beit Hanun preparatory school was clcsed  until further
notice following violent clashes in the town. (w, 5 December 19881 U&&i.&,
8 December 1988)

190. On 13 December, it wa’a reported that three more schools in East Jerusalem had
been ordered closed for five dayo  due to the pupils’ participation in
demonstrstions. The schools were the boys’ secondary school in Shu’fat  and two
schools for boys and girls ir; A-Tut. It was also reported that an international
teachers delegation severely criticised Israel for the frequent closures of schools
and universities in the territories, The delegation, headed by John Pollock, held
a one-week visit in the area and met with Palestinian teachers and students and
with IDF officials. (lj&‘areu,  13 December 1988)

192, On 31 December, the military authorities ordered all schools in the occupied
territories closed for one week in anticipation of widespread clashes with IDF
troops. Ieraeli officials said the closure was an ultimate warning before ordering
all schools c!.osed for the entire year. (&&&U, 5 January 1989)

192. On 18 January 1989, the military authorities ordered all schools in Jenin,
Ramallah, El Birch and Kalkilya closed for three days. Tarr,K  Ben Ziad secondary
school and Khaled Abdel Asia preparatory school in Hebron were also ordered closed
until 27 January. Al Arub Agricultural school was closed until 24 January. Sharia
Secondary school in Hebron had been ordered closed until 6 February. Dar Al Yet-ama
(Orphans Institute) in Jerusalem and Dheisheh Girls School and Husan Secondary boys
school were orderod closed for 30 days. According to U-Fau,  all West Bank
schools were ordered closed until further notice because of increasing  student
involvement in demonstrations. (&t&,&,  19 January 19891  Al-Fa+l;,  23 January 1989)

193. On 14 February, the Freres School in Jerusalem was ordered closed for one week
because a Palestinian flag was hoisted at the school. (Al-F&,  20 February 1989)

194. On 23 February, four schools were ordered closed by the mi.litory  authorities
in Gaze. (Al-F&, 27 February 1989) I

195. On 5 March, the Israeli authoriC.ies  ordered the Shufat Girls’ school closed
until further notice and prohibited primary pupils of Shufot Boys’ School from
attendl.nq  classes, The measure was taken aftor alleged repeated stone-throwing
I rom these schools, (m, 13 March 1989)

196. On 22 March, UNRWA announced that it would provide “some basic educatio.3” to
pupils whose schools in the West Bank had been closed. The organisation said !t
would arrange for teachers to visit pupils in refugee camps and other communities,
to distribute educational materials and to give guidance on their use. On

/ .* *---. --- -
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30 March, .;t was reported that UNRWA was barred from running informal educational
programmes in the West Bank. It announced in a statement  that it had been informed
by the Foreign Ministry that “military security precludes for the time being the
introduction of even interim measures to provide some basic education for the
youngest pupils”. The apparent reason for vetoing the UNRWA plan was the fear that
it would become part of “popular education” efforts that have been undertaken by
Palestinians since the enforced closure of West Bank schools. (w Post,

I &B , 23, 30 March 198Qt Al-Fati, 3 April 1989)

197. On 1 September 1988, it was reported that two settlers from Hebron who had
handed a wounded Arab youth to the police, claiming that they had.captured him
after he had thrown stones at them, were later arrested by the police on suspicion
of having attacked and injured the youth. The two settlers were questioned and
released on bail. (wI 1 September 1988)

198. On 8 Septrmber, the IDF spokesman was reported to have declared that settlers
planned to set up a parallel army in the occupied territories to carry out actions
not undertaken by the IDF. He added that the main threat came from military
actions that settlers could take against Arab residents. He said operations such
as those used by the IDF against the village of Beita aimed at countering pressures
by settlers to implement their scheme. (w, 8 September 1988)

199. On 1 November, it was reported that settlers from the Katif bloc, in southern
Gaza Strip, had uprooted several trees in an orchard close to the Bureij camp in
retaliation for stone-throwing from the orchard at settlers’ cars, Settler sources
told a correspondent that the settlers had presented the IDF with an ultimatum to
the effect that if the army failed to protect roads in the region and uproot
orchards immediately after they were used for attacking settler traffic, the
settlers would do it themselves. (U’arm I 1 November 1988)

200. On 3 November, it was reported that the Amana movement - the settling body of
Gush Emunim - had several days earlier prepared 15 caravans to enable the immediate
installation on the ground of two settler groups in the Katif bloc8 Katif H and
Dugit. Settlers in the Gasa Strip reportedly planned two more settlements, named
Peat-Sadeh and Kfar-Daron. They had already met with activists of the Amana
movement and various political bodies to discuss ways of realizing their plans in
the near future. The settlers were alsc demanding the s6,tir.g up of a civil guard
to patrol roads and fields near the Jewish settlements and prevent material
sabotage. It was further reported that Katif bloc settlers continued to uproot
trees in retaliation for stone-throwing at their cars. (w, 3 November 1988)

201. On 4 November, settlers from Ginot Shomron, near Kalkilya, threw stones at
Arab cars passing near the settlement after telephone links to the settlement had
been cut off, allegedly by Arabs, Three Arabs were reportedly injured by stones.
It was further reported that settlers uprooted 30 olive trees in the nearby
Kefr Latif .  (uarat.a, -II, 6 November 1988)

/ . . .
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202. On 11 November, the Council of Jewish Settlements in “Judea”, Wamaria” and
Gaze held a meeting in Beit-Aryeh settlement and adopted a resolution under which
it considered stones as “objects liable to cause murder”  and cal’ed on settlers to
act accordingly. It was reported that the IDF, interpreting thu call as
authorizing settlers to open fire at stone-throwers , warned the settler leaders not
to use firearms unless it was for self-defence. On 11 November, settlers from
Shilo opened fire at stone-throwers near Jalazun camp after the bus in which they
were riding was stoned. No one was hurt by the stone throwing or by the shooting.
(m, 13 November 1988)

203. On 23 November, it was reported that the police had recozznended  to the
Jerusalem district attorney that charges be brought against Rabbi Moshe Levinger
for causing the death of a Hebron shopkeeper and wounding another man during a
shooting incident two months earlier. Levinger had allegedly opened fire in Hebron
on 30 September 1988 after his car was stoned. Ka’id Salah was killed outside his
store and another man was injured, (Jerusalem Post, 23 Novrmber 1988)

204. On 24 November, it was reported that settlers from Yitzhar settlement had
uprooted some 250 olive trees with a bulldozer in the nearby village of Burin,
south of Nablus. The uprooting was in retaliation for the cutting of a water-pipe
to the settlement earlier in the week. In another development, it was reported
that MK Dedi Xucker  had written to ask Defence Minister Rabin to check reports by
reservists that the security officer of Oranif settlement, east of Rosh-Ha’ayin,
had attacked Arabs and vandalized  their property on 29 October and 7 November.
(Jeryealem Post, 24 November 1988)

205. On 25 November, settlers from Ginot Shomron damaged Arab cars on the outskirts
of Kalkilya after troops stopped them from entering the town. The settlers were
retaliating for a stoning attack in which a woman from the settlement was seriously
injured earlier in the week. On 27 November, three settlers were arrested and
later released on bail. The security officer of the settlement wae dismissed after
being accused of interfering with IDF activities. (bear-, 28 November 19881
BPostr 27-28 November 1988)

206. On 13 December, a vehicle belonging to settlers from Yitzhar was stoned near
the school in the village of Burin. The r’lssengers  opened fire into the air. They
caught one of the pupils and beat him, ana then entered the school and beat the
principal and the teachers. They later blocked the main road in the village,
entered a home and broke furniture. Following repeated attacks on settlers’ cars
and the incident in which a settler from Har Bracha was killed by a Palestinian,
the  s e t t l e r s ’ leaders were demanding that the IDF adopt tougher measures to quell
the uprising. To press their demands they were staging various actions, including
a hunger strike and demonstrations near the Prime .tiinister’s  residence in
Jerusalem. (Ha’&, 14-15 December 1988; Al-Fail;, 19 December 1968)

207. On 18 December, &b&b, an Arab newspaper, reported that Jewish settlers from
the settlement of Elon Moreh had raided the villages of Salim and Deir Al Hattab
the previous day and clashed with villagers. Settlers had used firearms, seriously
injuring Jihad Mustafa, aged 17, in the head. (-air, 26 December 1989)

/ I . l
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208. On 19 December, Jewish settlers raided by night a house in Dhahiriyeh, beating
its residents, a widow and her children, and breaking windows. According to
residents, a similar act occurred the previous week against another house in the
village. (Attalia, 22 December 1988)

209. On 7 January 1989, Palestinian sources reported that, following the murder of
an Israeli civilian, Shimon Edri, whose body was found near the settlement of
Yakir, scores of settlers had raided the nearby village of Hares, and had
demonstrated on the Tsans-Samaria road, attacking cars with Arab licence plates.
(Jerusalem Post, 8 JanGary 1989)

210. On 12 January, there were several clashes between settlers and soldiers
throughout the West Bank. Settlers defied army road blocks, scuffled with soldiers
and defiantly erected memorials that were quickly demolished by the IDF. There
were no offical reports of arrests. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 13 January 1989)

211. On 13 January, some 15 settlers attacked Arab stone throwers and trademen in
Hebron in what was described as a series of vigilante-style actions. The clashes
in Hebron were reportedly initiated by the Hebron residents' committee (a Jewish
settlers' group) to protest the alleged IDF failure to maintain law and order.
(Jerusalem Post, 15 January 1989)

212. On 22 January, it was reported that a new "public committee" of settlers had
recently distributed leaflets to Ariel settlers, informing them that they would be
advised shortly about "active, but legal actions" to be undertaken against stoning
of cars on the Trans-Samaria road. A spokesman for the committee, Shmuel Rafaeli,
said that the new body had no weapons or petrol bombs; he added that the committee
intended to undertake several actions that would "shock the public opinion and
explain the difficult security situation". (Ha'aretz, 22 January 1989)

213. On 24 January, during the night, settlers from Ariel reportedly rampaged
through the village of Bidya, following stone-throwing attacks on Israeli traffic.
The settlers blocked the junction on the Trans-Samaria road and smashed car and
house windows in the village. They left behind a leaflet in Arabic warning
villagers that if the violence persisted it would harm the villagers, their
property and their security. (Jerusalem Post, 26 January 1989)

214. On 26 January, the heads of Jewish councils in the territories held a press
conference in Jerusalem, coinciding with the end of their hunger strike.
Rabbi Moshe Levinger said that settler leaders had instructed the settlers to
capture Arab stone throwers and even to use a "reasonable degree of force" in order
to capture them. He said the instruction had been checked with lawyers and had
been found to be legal. The settler leaders also announced plans to conduct tours
through Arab towns and villages and increase activities in East Jerusalem.
(Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post, 27 January 1989)

215. The sixtieth week of the intifadah was marked by increased acts of violence by
settlers against Arab villages. Settlers broke windows in the village of Bidya,
attacked vehicles belonging to Arab citizens in Hebron, opened fire at Paltistinians
in Artas and Husan. (Attalia, 2 February 1989)

/ . . .
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216. On 3 February, it was reported that villagers at Irak Burin, near Nablus,
alleged that settlers had boaten local shepherds with clubs and that the sheph.srds
had to be hospitalised. The settlers also shot and killed a sheepdog. (JerusR&!l
Spat, 3 February 1989r Al-Fab, 6 February 1989) &L&L,~R,  9 February 1989)

217. On 3 February, during the night, settlers carried out a raid of retaliation on
the village of Aeun, after a settler’s car was stoned. The settlers stoned local
houses, damaging at least six housesl  they clashed with troops before being
dispersed with tear-gas, The settlers came from Ariel and Sha’arei-Tikva.
(-‘are&,  Jerusalem Post, 5 February 19891 Al-F&, 6 February 1989; AU&ho
9 February 1989)

218, On 5 February, some 30 settlers from Hebron evacuated a house located near the
Roman0  house, which they had occupied the previous night. The settlers left the
house after negotiations with IDF officials and after they were promised that ths

army would occupy the house and station soldiers there. On 6 February, official
IDF spokesmen denied that any agreement had been reached with the settlers, and
said that the latter evacuated the house after it was made clear to them that they
would be evacuated forcibly unless they left of their own will. (HB’ar6.f&,  6,
7 February 1989)

219. On 8 February, settlers from Ariel and Alfei-Menashe tried to enter nearby
villages after a settler was burnt to death in his car in what was believed to be a
petrol-bomb attack. Troops prevented settlers from entering Kalkilya and nearby
villages. Settlers reportedly stoned Arab cars, injuring at least three drivers
and passengers. Settlers from Ariel tried to enter Bidya, charging that their cars
had been stoned on the Trans-Samaria road, but they were blocked bl troops.
(&rNem Post, 9 February 1989)

220. On 9 February, settlers continued to take retaliatory action against Arab
villagers, following the death of settler Albert Jerassi. Some settlers raided
Haris. The area was later declared a closed military cone. It was also reported
that Samir Nasser al-Kilani, aged 22 and Majid Ali al-Kilani, aged 20, both from
Nablus, alleged that settlers had stopped their car near Bidya, on the night of
8 February, shattered their car windows, severely beat them with various objects on
all parts of their body and tried to hinder their evacuation to hospital. The two
were finally rushed to thd Anglican hospital !n Nablus, with head and other
injuries. (-‘aret&, 10 February 1989)

221. On 11 February, police entered the settlement of Yitshar to investigate the
vandalization of property in the nearby village of Burin. Vandalization by
settlers was also reported in Ramallah. (Jerusalem Post, 12 February 1989)

222. On 14 February, Alfei Menashe settlers continued to “demonstrate presence”
along the road leading to the settlement, but avoided carrying out armed patrols.
Security sources said that such patrols were illegal and only the IDF was
authorized to carry out security activities in the region. According to
MK Yossi Sarid a “settlers’ militia” was operating in the West Bank, based in five
settlements: Ariel, Ginot-Shomron, Ma’aleh-Shomron, Kedumim and Yitehar. The IDF
deputy chief of staff, Aluf <Maj. -Gen.) Ehud Barak said he had no knowledge of the

/ . l .
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existence  of a settlers' militia in the territories. It was reported that police
investigators had reached the conclusion that settler Albert Jerassi had not been
killed as a result of a petrol-bomb attack. (Ha'aretz, Jerusalem Post,
15 February 1989)

223. On 14 February, Jewish settlers raided Hebron after their cars had been stoned
in the city. They blocked streets and markets. Several residents were arrested
following the incident. (Al-Fair, 20 February 1983)

224. On 17 March, three Palestinians were injured when Jewish settlers raided shops
in the city of Hebron. (Attalia, 23 March 1989)

225. On 20 March, it was reported that settlers from the Katif bloc in southern
Gaza Strip had set fire to Arab greenhouses and a tractor and had damaged farm
produce and irrigation systems. This was reportedly done in retaliation following
Arab attacks on settlers' agricultural cor;structions. On 20 March, police detained
four settlers suspected of having taken part in the raid on Deir el-Balah anb
Zweida. The four were questioned and sent to the Ashkelon lock-up on suspicion of
trespassing and causing damage. They were released on 22 March. (Ha'aretz, 20, 22,
23 March 1989; Al-Fair, 27 March 1989)

226. On 20 March, it was reported that Jewish settlers had killed 16 Palestinians
and wounded 107 in the year between December 1987 and December 1988, according to
an unpublished report by the East Jerusalem Palestine Human Rights Information
Center. Most were killed by settlers who shot at crowds after their vehicles were
stoned, the report said. (Al-Fair, 20 March 1989)

227. On 21 March, Hebron settlers held a Purim holiday march from Tel Rumeida to
the Patriarchs' Cave, where they attempted to install a Torah ark, but were stopped
by troops. Some settlers were dressed as Arabs and armed with bottles and stones:
they carried Palestinian flags and then set fire to them. The procession was
protected by the army. Settlers pushed soldiers and Arabs on their way to prayer
in the Patriarchs' mosque. The settlers finally dispersed. (Ba'aretz, Jerusalem
Post, 22 March 1989; Al-Fair, 27 March 1989)

228. On 22 and 23 March, Jewish settlers were reported to have attacked several
Arab towns and villages. They uprooted trees, damaged crops, smashed windows and
attacked local residents with gunshots and beating. (Al-Fair, 27 March 1989;
Attalia, 30 March 1989)

.D. Treatment  of detaam

229. On 31 August 1988, two members of the Knesset reported cases of ill-treatment
of detainees in Israeli detention camps after a visit to Jneid prison on
23 August 1988. They described the cases of six Palestinians slated for expulsion,
including that of Abdel Hamid Al Baba, arrested in July 1988, who was kept in
Maskubeya prison yard day and night for 26 days. (Al-F-, 4 September 1988)
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230. On 1 September, three Supreme Court Justices, Meir  Shamgar, Menahem Elon and
Gavriel Bach, made a six-hour visit to the Keteiot detention camp in the Negev
desert, where 2,600 Palestinians were being held. The justices heard complaints
about hunger, a water shortage, an unvaried diet, the fact that two inmates must
share one tray, a limit of one shower a week etc. The judges decided to visit the
facility after 17 detainees had appealed to the High Court of Justice against
“inhuman conditions” there. On 8 November, the High Court of Juotice, while
rejectino  the appeal, severely criticized conditions prevailing in the facility.
The thr;s  :‘ustices,  who had visited the camp said there was considerable
overcrowdinp3,  with up to 28 men being confined to a single tent. The justices also
criticised the punishment methods in the camp. The court president, Meir Sharngar,
further criticised the disciplinary measures taken against disruptive inmates. On
25 November, it was reported that hundreds of detainees in the Ketziot detention
camp had rioted the previous week, but the riot was immediately suppressed.
According to one report six detainees were injured, but the IDF spokesman denied
‘Ihe report. On 5 

8 December, jt was reported that according to a report by the New York-based
Lawyers Committee for Human Rights conditions at the Ketziot prison were
“inhumane”. Detainees were beaten and exposed to harsh desert heat, food was
inadequate, sanitary and hygienic conditions were poor and there were cases of
individual and :ollcctive  punishment, (Ha, Jerusalem  PO&~, 2 September, and
9 November 1988r &a’aareU,  24 November and 5 December 1988r Jerusalem PosL, 6 and
8 December 1988)

231. On 15 September, it was reported that Yair Taaban, a member of the Knesset,
had appealed to Defence Minister Rabin to release 17 detainees held in Ketaiot
detent ion camp, whose health was poor. He also asked that a team of doctors be
authorized to examine these detainees. (m’arm , 15 September 1988)

232, On 22 September, it was reported that according to autopsy findings
communicated by the State Attorney’s Office to lawyer Felicia [*anger,  Awad Hamdan,
aged 23, had “suffocated to death” during his interrogation by the General Security
Service (GSS). Hemdan,  from the village of Rumana, near Jenin, was arrested on
19 July 1988 and died two days later at the Jenin prison. His family  was first
told that he had died of a heart attack, and later, that he had died of pneumonia.
Finally, it was informed by the Jenin military governor that he had died of
snake-bite. An initial autopsy report said he had died of natural causes.
Attorney Langer petitioned the High Court of JUStiCe to obtain the autopsy report
and to learn the cause of death after members of Hamdan’s family said his body bore
signs of violence, and that he had been healthy when arrested. Following a police
investigation, three GSS agents were suspected for lying about the incident, and
one was charged with causing Hamdan’s  death through negligence, and was still on
tr ia l  at  thp .erusalem Magistrate’s court. On 4 October, Attorney Langor
petitioned the High Court of Justice in order to obtain information from the
Ministers of Defence and Police concerning the circumstances of Hzmdan’s  death.
Hamdan dial in custody on 21 July 1988, two days after being arrested. In response
to a previous petition by the family, the State Attorney’s Office had said that
Hamdan died of “asphyxia: due to suf Xocation”  . The new petition demanded a court
o r d e r  t o  r e v e a l “what caused the suffocation and when, who caused it, how and
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why”. Cn 7 December, the High Court of Justice issued an order nisi which
instructed the Defence Minister and the Minister of Police to show cause,  within
30 days, why the Hsmdan  family should not be given information on the circumst&nces
of the suffocation, what caused it and when, who caused :It, how and why. :Jarusalem
Post, 22 September 19881  l&‘arm, &.K- Post, 5 October and 8 December 1988)

233. On 28 September, serious clashes were reported in Ansar 3 detention camp
resulting in the injury of a Palestinian detainee and an Israeli soldier. The
incident started when soldiers ill-treated the detainee, It was the second serious
incident that had occurred in the desert camp, which is mainly used for
administrative detainees. According to estimates, about 2,500 PaYestinians  were
being held there. In another development, journalist Salah Zuheikeh, managinq
editor of the Arabic daily A.&&&,  went on a hunger strike to protest his detent.ion
uader  an administrative detention order, He had been under interrogation in
Maskubeya prison ever since he was brought there. (m, 2 October 1988)

234. On 10 October, it was reported that a spokeswoman of the Women’s Organization
for Political Prisoners said that 43 female “political prisoners” were currently in
detention. She estimated that over 1.000 women had been arrested since the start
of the uprising. Phe claimed that almost all the women were tortured. (~Us.al9m
East, 1 0  Octobcrr r.9’38)

235. On 23 October, it was reported  that a Palestinian prisoner, Ibrahim a?-Matur,
aged 32, of Si’ir near Hebron, had besn found dead in his cell in the Dhahiriya
military jail on 21 October * ti. Military dou ces said he had committed suicide,
but his family charged that his body bore signs indicating he had been beaten to
death. On 27 October, it was r Iported that al-Matur’s family had alleged in
letters to the Defence Minister, the Attorney-General and the Wost Bank military
government’s  legal adviser that the detainee had been murdered in jail by his
warders or interrogators, and had not committed suicide, as claimed by the military
authoritlss. On 3 January 1989, it was reported that attorney Felicia Langar, on
behalf of the family of Ibrahim al-Matur, petitioned the High Court of Ju&tice to
order that al-Matur ’ 6 body be exhumed and a new post-mortem examination be made.
(Ba’areh,  -em Post, 23, 27 October 19881 b’arm, 3 January 1989)

236. On 15 November, a report was published by the Israeli Committee of the
InteYnatioJal  Association for Child Protection. The three members of the
committea, former supreme justice Moshe Etzioni, jurist Professor Leslie Saba and
Dr. Manaham Hero-$i  tz, had visited !4egido  prison in Israel in August 1988. Thtty
noted in their report that some 60 minors. aged 14 to 16, from the territories w9re
being held in that military prison together with 620 adult prisoners, in violation
of international conventions. Only drvi-ing the night were the minors separated from
the adults. All the minors, most of whom were arrest,. 9 for breaking the public
peace, throwing stones and petrol bombs and participating in demonstrations, had to
wait many month*; for their trial. Two minors had been arrested in December 1987
and were still awai’cing their trial in August 1988. TP response to the report the
IDF reported that following a meeting between the Judge Advocate-General and the
committee members it was decided to transfer all the minors to the Atlit jail and
that the separation between them and the adult detainees had already been
implemented. Some 7C minors held in military prisons were recently  released as a
goodwill q,sture. (H&&.&Z, 15 November 1988)

I
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237. On 1 December, at the trial of four soldiers of the "Givati" biigade charged
with causing the death of a resident of Jabaliya camp, one of the witnesses, a
reserve sergeant, told the Southern Region military court that soldiers beat
detainees in the Jabaliya post '*for fun. The humiliation and beating were just in
order to while away the time". (Ha'aretg,  2 December 1988)

238. On 10 December, a clash was reported in "Ansar 2" prison in Gaza. A detainee,
Abdallah Ibrahim Mahruka, aged 20, stabbed a soldier, and another soldier opened
fire and killed the assailant. Fallowing the incident all the detainees were put
back in their cells and searches were carried out. Improvised arms ware
discovered. All promenades in the courtyard were suspended. On 12 December,
hundreds of detainees in "Ansar 2" went on hunger strike to protest the killing.
(Ha'aretz, 11, 13 December 1988)

239. C)n 21 December, it was reported that a visit to Megido jail (northern Israel:
by some 600 family members of 510 detainees from the southern West Bank was
cancelled following a riot. According to eyewitnesses, visitors could hard7.y talk
with their detained family members, since 20 detainees met simultaneously with
their families, with a distance of 3.5 m separating the two groupsI forcing them to
shout in order to be heard. (Ha'aretz, 21 December 1988)

240. On 25 December, it was reported that 120 detainees at a detention facility
located in the Tulkarem military government house were complaining about their
detention conditions. They were being held in tin huts where it was unbearably
cold and rain penetrated the huts. (Ba'aretq,  25 December 1988)

241. On 29 December, it was reported that following a visit to the Dahiriya
detention camp by a delegation of members of the Association of Civil Rights of
Israel, the Association was demanding that the IDF drastically improve detention
conditions in the camp or close it altogether. According to a report prepared by
the Association, despite efforts to improve the sewerage network and to introduce
hot water, human beings should not be held in the camp in the present conditions.
The members of the delegation said conditions in Dabiriya could not be compared to
conditions in any other detention camp they visited in the territories. The report
had been transmitted three weeks earlier to the IDF Judge Advocate-General, the
Central Region Commander and the Legal Adviser of the West Bank, but the three
officials had not commented on it. (Ba'aretz,  29 December 1988)

242. On 5 January 1989, it was reported that prisoners in the Ketziot detention
camp had decided to boycott appeal hearings against administrative detentions in
solidarity with Arab lawyers who had declared a one-month strike in protest against
their working conditions in military courts. A journalist held at the camp for
nine months, Adnan Damiri, reportedly declared an open-ended hunger strike to
protest thet third renewal of his administrative detention. (Jerusalem Post,
5 January 1989; Attalia, 5 January 1989)

243. On 6 January, it was reported that a body called "Down with Occupation" had
protested about harsh conditions in the "Oz-Megido" detention facility.
Allegations concerned lack of appropriate clothing and medical treatment and family
visit conditions, which were described as a "collective punishment". (Ha'aretp,
6 January 1989)

/ . . .
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244. On 9 January, it was reported that the “Down with Occupation” organisation had
lam ned that nome 250 West Bank detainees in the Megido detention facility were to
be transferred to “Anear 3” camp in Ketsiot, where no family visits were
authorised. (W, 9 January 19891

245. On 13 January, it was reported that prisoners at the Ketaiot detention centre
had been on hunger strike since 9 January, to protest against the injury of two
prisoners on 8 January during a disturbance in Division-7, as well as the living
conditions at the facjiity. (BPost, 13 January 1989)

246. On 16 January, Al-Ittm newspaper reported that all 1,500 detainees held in
Megido prison had announced that they would not appear before Israeli military
courts in solidarity with Palestinian lawyers who were on strike. The lawyers
declared on 1 January 1969 that they would not appear in military courts for one
month, demanding improvement in conditions the detainees were held in and an easing
on restrictions imposed on the lawyers regarding the performance of their duties as
defence attorneys. (w, 23 January 1989)

247. On 8 February, it wan reported that MK Dedi Zucker  had written to Defence
Minister Rabin demanding an investigation into charges by Char Hanan, aged 24, of
Nablus, that he was paralysed from the waist down after being beaten in custody by
an IDF soldier and was later rearrested despite his disability. Hanun  had been
arrested on 29 May 1988, He was allegedly shot in the leg with four rubber
bullets. When he denied charges of throwing stones and being a member of Fatah’s
Shabiba movement, two soldiers hit him with rifle butts on the head, back and
chin, He was then put in a cell ono and a half metres by half a metre, and was
ouspended  from the ceiling by his hands from 11 a.m.  until the evsning. He was
then questioned for four days and transferred to a detention tont. An hour later a
group of soldiers entered the tont and beat him. One struck iAim with a pole on the
back of the neck knocking him unconscious. (m PosL, 8 February 1989)

248, On 8 February, some 1,300 Arab prisoners rioted in Megido prison, northern
Israel, hurling stones and iron bars at gdatd towers and climbing the prison
fences . Guards opened fire killing one inmate - Nidal Zuhadi Deeb,  aged 23. from
Kadura near Ramallah  - and injuring 19 others, The riot reportedly began following
a decision by the prison commander to cut short visitors’ day after a guard spotted
a visitor waving a Palestinian flag, Troops shot in the air, fired doaens of
tear-gas grenades and shot rubber bullets, but the riot continued. The prison
commander decided that the guards’ lives were in danger and ordered to shoot at the
rioters. Five of the injured inmates had to be hospitalised. A further riot was
reported in the prison the next day, and five inmates were slightly injured from
tear-gee. The Megido prison was put under the control of the military police. It
was considered smong Palestinians as the worst detention centre, and since the
beginning of the uprising, several hunger strike, sit-in strikes and riots were
reported there. (HIL’,  Jerusm Post, 9 and 10 February 1989; m,
13 February 19891 Attalia,  16 February 1989)

249. On 9 February, guards at the Ketaiot detention facility, in the Negev desert,
shot at detainees who refused to come out for the evening head count. Two inmatee
weri i n j u r e d , and eight others were afFected by tear-gas. (&-‘a-, Jar_raaelam
&.?6!.  # 12 February 1989)
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250. On 13 February, Israel Radio was reported to have broadcasted news of riots in
Anaar 3 detention camp during which 10 Palestinian detainees  were injured; 8 from
tear+as, 1 from live bullet and another from a rubber bullet. (AL&~x,
13 February 1989)

251. On 15 February, it was reported the MK Muhammad Miari had visited three
prisoners who had been injured in an incident in the Megido jail the previous
week. The three were hospitalised in Afula hospital, According to MK Miari one of
them, whoee  left leg was in a cast, had his right arm and leg chained to the bed.
An IDF spokesman acknowledged the fact and added that this was contrary to
i n s t r u c t i o n s .  (U’areu, 15 F e b r u a r y  1 9 8 9 )

252. On 18 February, a Palestinian prisoner at Beersheba jail was murclered by
another inmate, The victim was named as Sirham  Amuri, aged 18, of Shufat. An
18-year-old  prisoner from Qaaa reportedly confessed to the crime. (Uaiem t
20 February 1989)

253. On 20 February, the Israeli Women’s Organisation for Political Prisoners
reported that Amneh Darwish, aged 28, had been ill-treated during interrogation at
the Puesian Compound prison in ;lerusalem  on 14 January 1989. (ALE.&,
20 February 1989)

254. On 5 March, it was reported that all the detainees at the Ketoiat  detention
camp (“Ansar 3”) were entering the second week of their hunger strike against
prisurl  conditions. According to detainees’ lawyers, the striking detainees had not
been given any medical checks since the beginning of their strike. According to
the 1,100 security detainees held at Ketsiot, they were striking to protest the bad
quelity and insufficient quantity of food they received, the prohibition of family
vis i ts , the extension of the detention orders against borne  of them for the second
or third time, ill-treament and the use of tear-gas, beating, water jets and even
rubber bullets and live ammunition to disperse gatherings. (L!BLc&,  &.LUB~.QID
pa&, 5 March 1989)

255. On 6 March, Arab sources reported that all the detainees in the “Ansar  2” camp
in the Gasa Strip had been on hunger strike until 5 March 1989, and that the prison
authorities had denied detainees’ lawyers access to their clients. Two detainees
were reportedly beaten during disturbances. (-‘aret,&, 6 March lS89>

256. On 7 March, it was reported that a security prisoner, Mahmoud Yussuf
Alayan  al Masri, aged 30, from Rafah, had died on 5 March in the GSS section of the
Gaea jail. According to a Prisons Authority spokesman, the detainee had received
medical treatment from the prison doctor, in the investigations section, after he
had complained he was not feeling well. He was thought to be suffering from an
u l c e r . Arab sources in Rafah alleged that the detainee had been badly beaten and
that that was the cause of his death. The prison authorities set up a special
investigating team to look into the circumstances of the death. The police were
reportedly also investigating the case. On 6 March, it was reported that an
eutopfiy  performed on his body indicated several minor hemorrhages in his limbs,
which could have resulted from sleeping on the floor for hours, and internal
bleeding, which could have resulted from a burst ulcer. No signs of violenclr!  or
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torture were reportedly found during the autopsy. Al Masri’s mother denied that
her son had ever suffered from an ulcer. On 10 March, it was reported that Prisons
Authority head, Levi Sheul, had ordered that the investigation into al Mtsri’e
death be continued and that the investigator8 continue to ascertain whether prison
regulations governing the treatment of sick prisoners were adhered to, PO1 ice
investigator8 were also continuing to check whether negligence in the application
of prison mediaal regulation6 contributed to the death, On 19 March, it was
reported that al Masri’s family had applied to the High Court of Justice, demanding
an explanation from the defence and police minister6 why they would not order
al Masri’s grave opened to permit an independent autopsy. High Court Justice
Aharon Barak  1881’36  an order nisi requiring the two ministers to respond within
20 days to the application, (U’aretsl,  JJU.U~, 7, 8, 9, 10 and
19 March 19891 Al-Fait,  13 March 1989)

257. On 9 March, it was reported that inmates of the Qasa prison were continuing
their hunger strike in p’oteat over the death in prison of detainee
Fahmoud  al Masri. The inmate8 in the Ketaiot camp also resumed their hunger strike
in protest over the death of al Masri and over prison conditions, (Hs’ars+a *
Jerusalem,  9  March 1969)

250. On 13 March, it was reported that Tarek Abu Sha’aban, a detainee in “Ansar 2”,
had been hospitalised in Soroka hoepital  in Bsersheba  after allegedly being badly
beaten by soldiers. lie had to undergo an operation in which his opleen had to be
removed. On 12 March, he was discharged from hospital. (tlb’aratp, 13 March 1989)

259. On 13 March, detainees at Ansar 3 went on a one-day hunger strike to warn the
prison authorities against breaking their promises made following the two-week long
hunger strike, (W, 10 March 1989)

260. On 30 March, it was reported that two experts on prison medicine, sent by the
United States-based Physicians for Human Rights group, said that their requesto to
visit inmate6 at the Ketaiot,  Dhahiriya and Megido  prisons had not been granted by
the Defence Ministry. A delegation from the same organisation held in 1988 d
widely publicised press conference on injuries from IDF gunfire and beatings in the
te r r i tor ies . (Jeruselemt,  30 March 1999)

261. On 25 OcLober  1988, it was reported that a new settlement named Na’aleh was to
be inaugurated the next da:y. It w&s located near the settlement of Nili, close to
the Green Line, and coneisted of 27 families CIZ employees of the Aviation
Industry, The new settlement was sponsored by Amana, the settling body of
Gush Emunim.  (U’arm, 25 October 1986)

262. On 6 November, it was reported C-at Gush Emunim planned the establishment of
two new settlements in the Gasa Stripr Dogat and Kataif H. (&m.r.,
6 November 1988)
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263. On 10 Novombw, the oaaugetion authoritieo orieed 50 dunamc  in the aroa of
Al Majr,  oppooite Jneid  prison aamp, bslqnging  to five Arab families in Rafidiya.
Pyowitneereo  reported rseing IDF lorries bringing in army t rte and equipment.
(A,~UU,A,  10 November 1968)

264,  On 22 November, it wan reported that an industrial sone of approximately
10,000 cquare metro@ wao planned to br croatsd  in Ariel. The induotrial aone war
to be built by a company headed by an advirer to Trade and Industry Minirtrr
Ar iel Sharon. It would coot 88 million. (m, 22 November 1988)

265. On 1 Deaember,  it wan r0pOrted  that the Houeing and Conotructioa Minirtry war
stepping up its aOtivitiet3  in the Eteion bloa. Some 300 housing unita were to be
built shortly in Efrat, which would be converted from a community rettlement to an
urbara settlement. The number of houcing unite in Beita should roach 8,000. The
new road wao under conotruation, a Kalkilya by-pat36 , would be ready in one month’r
time. Aacording  to the Direator-Qeneral  of the Miniotry,  Amos Unger, derpite the
uprising there was a lot of conotruotioa and pU::ChaBe  of flats in the Jerusalem
area and in weetern  Samaria. By the end of th#J fiecal year 19;d8 some 1,500 houring
unite would be built, according to Houoing  Ministry plano. Under another plan, the
Minirtry would areate the infrartruature for building 500 flats in Pirgat-Xet’ev,
north of Jerusalem (between the French Hill and Neveh-Yaacov). (mI
1 December 1988)

266. On 6 December, it was  reported that an extensive settlement campaign was under
way in the Katif bloa, in the oouthern Qasa Strip. and that come 200 families had
alresdy expreceed their will to settle there. The campaign was organised by the
Qovernment,  through the Minirtry of Trade and Industry, in co-operation with the
Qara Regional Council. (m, 6 December 1988)

267. On 22 December, a liot of eight new settlements whose  oonotruotion war agreed
upon between the Likud and Labour parties a6 part of the coalition povernment  plan
wae made public, The eight new settlements should be set up within the firrt year
of the new Qovernment’e  term of office. Five would be located in the “Judea’*
region and three in the Qaaa  Strip aa follows1

(a) The settlement of Talmon (north west of Ramallah) to be ertablished on an
area of land covering 1,300 dunams)

(b) Mikhtam (eaet of Latrun, 15 km north of Jerusalem) to be eotabliohed  on
an area of 700 duname)

(c) Eitan (2 km north-west of Jericho) to be established on an area of
600 dunams that had been allocated to the settlement)

(d) Alon (north of Mishor Adwnim)  to be established in an area uninhabited by
Arabs in the district of Jericho, on 000 dunams  of land that had been allocated to
the settlement;

(e) Zif (7 km south-east of Kiryat-Arba in the Mount Webron  area) to be
established on 300 duname that had been allocated to the settlement)

/ . . .
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(f) Peat-Sadeh (south of Khan Yunis) to be established on 600 dunams of land
that had been allocated to the settlement:

(g) Katif H (near Peat-Sadeh) to be established on an area of 300 dunams;

(h) Dugit (near Jabaliya camp, north of Gaza) to be established on an area of
600 dunams that hau been allocated to the settlement. (m'aret& 22 December 1988)

268. On 6 January 1989, it was reported that Defence Minister Rabin and the
Prime Minister's adviser on settlement affairs, Michael Dekel, had prepared a
document describing in detail the settlements that would be set up during the first
year of the coalition government. The document was to be submitted to the
government in 10 days time. Under that plan, three settlements would be created in
the Gaza Strip within four months: Dugit, with 90 families, in two months' time;
Peat-Sadeh, with 50 families, in four months; and Kfar-Daron - a "permanent
settlement", in the coming weeks. Infrastructure and construction for the three
settlements could cost NIS 4.5 million (approximately $2.5 million). (IIs'a"?t?,
6 January 1989)

269. On 18 January, Asha'b newspaper reported that the Israeli military authorities
had handed residents of the village of Jayus, in the Tulkarem area, orders
confiscating 1,362 dunams around the village alleging they were government
property. The residents were given 45 days to appeal to the Israeli Military
Objections Committee. (Al-Fajr, 23 January 1989)

270. On 14 February, the village council in Tamun was notified by the military
authorities that 2,838 dunams of village land would be confiscated. No reasons
were given. (Al-Fajx, 20 February 1989)

271. On 15 February, the military authorities closed an area of about 7,000 dunams
used for grazing sheep in the villages of Tamun, Tayasir and Ein Al Biba.
Residents were prevented from reaching the area. (Al-Fae, 20 February 1989)

272. On 20 February, deputy Prime Minister and Housing Minister David Levy
inaugurated the Kalkilya by-pass road. At the ceremony, Housing Ministry officials
announced that NIS 15 million (approximately $9 million) would be earmarked in the
coming year for the construction of more roads and by-pass roads in the
territories. (Ha'aretz,  19 and 21 February 1989)

273. On 15 March, Jewish residents of the West Bank moved to a rocky hilltop 8 km
north-west of Ramallah and established Talmon - the first new settlement in years.
They reportedly acted with government approval. Gush Emunim's settlement movement,
Amana, and the Mateh-Binyamin regional council had undertaken to cover Talmon's
initial costs. (Jerusalem Post, 16 March 1989)

274. On 20 March, four provisional structures were placed at the site of a new
settlement, named Tzofim, near Kalkilya. The new settlement was a private
initiative and was not included in the eight settlements whose construction was
agreed upon by the national unity government. The Amana movement was responsible
for placing the provisional homes at the site. Permanent housing was to be built
shortly. (Ha'arets,  22 March 1989)
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275. On 23 March, it was reported that members of the Al Sharha fan\lly from Dura
ware notified of the confiecation  of 1,500 dunams belonging to them in the areas of
Taku’ and Dhahiriya. The Israeli authorities gave them 45 daye to file an
objection. (m, 23 March 1959)


